https://prism.ucalgary.ca

Open Theses and Dissertations

2013-09-06

# The Descriptive Epidemiology of Influenza Vaccination and Adverse Events of Influenza Vaccination in Alberta for the 2010-2011 Vaccination Season

Lambo, Jonathan

Lambo, J. (2013). The Descriptive Epidemiology of Influenza Vaccination and Adverse Events of Influenza Vaccination in Alberta for the 2010-2011 Vaccination Season (Master's thesis, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada). Retrieved from https://prism.ucalgary.ca. doi:10.11575/PRISM/28046 http://hdl.handle.net/11023/925 Downloaded from PRISM Repository, University of Calgary

# UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

The Descriptive Epidemiology of Influenza Vaccination and Adverse Events of Influenza

Vaccination in Alberta for the 2010-2011 Vaccination Season

by

Jonathan Adebola Lambo

# A THESIS

# SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

# DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY HEALTH SCIENCES

# CALGARY, ALBERTA

# AUGUST, 2013

© Jonathan Lambo 2013

#### Abstract

**Objective:** The objective of this study was to estimate influenza vaccination coverage and describe the occurrence of adverse events related to influenza vaccination in Alberta by attributes of age, sex, geographical indicators (urban or rural), immigrants versus non-immigrants, and provider type for the 2010-2011 vaccination season.

**Methods:** The study used aggregate data from the Alberta's publicly funded immunization system. Denominators for influenza vaccination coverage were obtained from the health care insurance registry. Descriptive analysis included proportions to describe patterns in rates and events by attributes.

**Results:** Variation in influenza vaccination coverage and adverse events was observed by age, sex, place of residence and in relation to being immigrant and non-immigrant. Among young children and immigrants, there were missing values of adverse events.

**Conclusions** Influenza vaccination coverage rates for the overall population, for all age groups, and for rural and immigrant population are low. Reporting of adverse events is incomplete.

#### Acknowledgements

My sincere gratitude goes to my supervisor, Dr. Margaret Russell for her generous support and kindness. Thank you, Dr.Russell, for your supervision and mentorship throughout the duration of my graduate education.

I also like to extend my sincere gratitude and appreciation to members of my supervisory committee, Dr. Betty Henderson and Mr. Larry Svenson. Thank you for your invaluable expertise and feedback with developing and completing this project.

I like to thank Kimberly Simmonds who has assumed the responsibility of extracting and providing me with the data for this project. Thank you also for taking the time to answer my numerous questions regarding the data for this project. I also like to thank my colleagues at the department of community health sciences for the helpful discussion through our time together.

Finally, my parents, my wife and my children, thank you for all of your support. And to God Almighty be the glory for making everything possible!

Austra	ctii
Ackno	wledgementsiii
Table of	of Contentsiv
List of	Tablesix
List of	Figuresxi
List of	Abbreviationsxiii
CHAP	TER ONE: INTRODUCTION1
1.1	Purpose1
1.2	Objectives1
1.3	Research Questions1
1.4	Statement of Problem2
1.5	Study Rationale
CHAP	TER TWO: BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW6
0 1 T /	
2.1 Intr 2.2 Vac 2.3 Inf 2.3.1 V 2.3.2 A 2.3.2.1 2.4 Epi 2.4.1 C 2.4.2 V 2.4.3 E 2.5 Co 2.5.1 In 2.6 Rej 2.6.1 In 2.6.2 N 2.6.2.1 2.7 Pul 2.8 Epi	roduction

# **Table of Contents**

<ul><li>2.8.2 Monitoring influenza vaccination coverage in Alberta</li><li>2.9 Methodological Issues in estimating vaccination coverage</li></ul>	18 19
<ul><li>2.9.1 Overview of methodological issues.</li><li>2.9.2 Definitions of 'Vaccinated'.</li></ul>	19 20
2.9.3 Data Sources	23
2.9.3.1 Numerator data sources	24
2.9.4 Denominator Data Sources	24
2.9.5 Validity and reliability of administrative data and immunization registries	.25
2.9.6 Validity of self-reported influenza vaccination	28
2.9.7 Urban/ Rural Indicators Comparisons	29
2.9.8 Immigrants versus foreign born versus ethnicity	.30
2.9.9 Male/ Female Comparisons	.31
2.10. Summary of Literature Review	31
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	.33
3.1 Introduction	33
3.2 Study design	.33
3.3 Study population	.33
3.4 Study period	.33
3.5 Databases	34
3.6 Data sources	36
3.6.1 Alberta health care insurance plan (AHCIP) central stakeholder registry (CSR)	.36
3.6.2 Immunization and adverse reactions to immunization (Imm/ARI) registry	36
3.6.3 Supplemental enhanced service event system (Physicians claims database)	38
3.6.4 Alberta blue cross (ABC)	39
3.6.5 Alberta immigrant registry	40
3.7 Data cleaning and creation of the analytical sets	41
3.8. Data file organization	42

3.9 Urban/rural indicators comparisons46
3.10 Influenza vaccination coverage rates for one versus two doses
3.11 Adverse events following influenza vaccination (AEFI)47
3.12 Operational definitions
3.13 Inclusion criteria
3.13.1 Objective1: Estimating influenza vaccination coverage
3.13.2 Objective 2: Describing the occurrence of adverse events related to influenza vaccination
3.14 Exclusion criteria
3.14.1 Objective1: Estimating influenza vaccination coverage
3.14.2 Objective 2: Describing the occurrence of adverse events related to influenza vaccination
3.15 Data analysis
3.15.1 Objective1: Estimating influenza vaccination coverage
3.15.2 Objective2: Describing the occurrence of adverse events related to influenza vaccination
3.16 Statistical analysis
3.17 Denominators for estimating vaccination coverage
3.18 Numerator and denominator data sources for adverse events
3.19 Potential data sources for denominators for immigrants and non-immigrants57
3.20 Ethical considerations
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS62
4.1 Introduction
4.1.1 Descriptive and bivariate analyses
4.2 Objective1: Estimating influenza vaccination coverage63
4.2.1 Description of study population
4.2.2 Frequency distribution of vaccinations
4.2.3 The influenza vaccination coverage for the overall population (all age groups combined)

4.2.3.1 Age-specific influenza vaccination coverage72
4.2.3.2 Age-specific influenza vaccination coverage by sex73
4.2.3.3 Influenza vaccination coverage by rural and urban residents and age75
4.2.3.4 Influenza vaccination coverage by age for immigrants and non-immigrants77
4.2.3.5 Influenza vaccination coverage by provider type and age77
4.2.4 Estimating the proportion of children who received one and two doses80
4.2.4.1 Description of study population
4.2.4.2 Estimating influenza vaccination coverage with two doses
4.2.4.3 Comparison of influenza vaccination coverage among children <49 months by number of doses
4.2.4.4 Comparison of influenza vaccination coverage among children <49 months by sex
4.2.4.5 Comparison of influenza vaccination coverage among children <49 months by age
4.3 Objective 2: Describing the occurrence of adverse events related to influenza vaccination
4.3.1 Description of study population
4.3.2 Frequency distribution of adverse events by age group and sex
4.3.3 Estimating the rates of adverse events for influenza vaccination
4.3.3.1 Age-specific rates of adverse events
4.3.3.2 Age-specific rates of adverse events by sex
4.3.3.3 Age-specific rates of adverse events by location of residence101
4.3.3.4 Age-specific rates of adverse events by non-immigrants and immigrants
4.3.3.5 Rates of adverse events by severity103
CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION
5.1 Introduction105
5.2 Contextualization of study findings
5.2.1 Objective1: Estimating influenza vaccination coverage105

5.2.1.1 Variations in coverage rates by age110
5.2.1.2 Variations in coverage rates by sex
5.2.1.3 Rural-urban variations in coverage rates
5.2.1.4 Variations in coverage rates by immigrants versus non-immigrants115
5.2.1.5 Variations in coverage rates by vaccine providers
5.2.2 Objective 2: Describing the occurrence of adverse events related to influenza vaccination
5.2.2.1 Variations in adverse events rates by age
5.2.2.2 Variations in adverse events rates by sex, immigrants/non-immigrants and severity
5.3 Study strengths
5.4 Study limitations
5.4.1 Completeness of reporting and biases
5.4.2 Influenza vaccination coverage estimations (for all age groups combined and particularly for the elderly)
5.4.3 Use of aggregate data124
5.4.4 Data availability
5.4.5 Passive reporting system
5.4.6 Denominators for immigrants and non-immigrants
5.5 Recommendations for practice
5.6 Recommendations for research
REFERENCES128

#### **List of Tables**

Table 4.13 Description of adverse events following vaccination with the influenzavaccine by severity, 2010/2011 season, Alberta104

#### **List of Figures**

# List of Abbreviations

Symbol	Definition
AE	Adverse Events
AEFI	Adverse Events Following Immunization
AH	Alberta Health
AHS	Alberta Health Services
AHCIP	Alberta Health Care Insurance Plan
AIS	Alberta Immunization Strategy
ARI	Adverse Reaction to Immunization
CAEFI	Canadian Adverse Events Following Immunization
CCHS	Canadian Community Health Survey
CHREB	Conjoint Health Research Ethics Board
CI	Confidence Interval
CIC	Citizenship and Immigration Canada
CSR	Central Stakeholder Registry
GBS	Guillain Barré Syndrome
НА	Haemagglutinin

HCW	Healthcare Workers
HIA	Health Information Act
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
IHDA	Interactive Health Data Application
IIP	Alberta's Influenza Immunization Policy
Imm/ARI	Immunization and Adverse Reactions to
	Immunization
LAIV	Live Attenuated Influenza Virus Vaccine
LTC	Long-Term Care
NACI	National Advisory Committee on Immunization
РНАС	Public Health Agency of Canada
PHN	Personal Health Number
SD	Standard Deviation
SESE	Supplemental Enhanced Service Event
SSPE	Subacute Sclerosing Panencephalitis
TIV	Trivalent Inactivated Vaccine
UTD	Up-To-Date

WHO

World Health Organization

#### **Chapter One: Introduction**

This chapter provides the background information on the purpose, objectives, research questions, the statement of problem and the rationale for this study.

#### **1.1 Purpose**

The purpose of this study is to describe the epidemiology of influenza vaccination coverage and adverse events of influenza vaccination for all ages (6 months or older) in the province of Alberta for the October 2010-April 2011 vaccination season.

#### **1.2 Objectives**

The objectives of this research are:

1. To estimate influenza vaccination coverage in Alberta by attributes of age, sex, geographical indicators (urban or rural), immigrants versus non-immigrants, and provider type for the October 2010-April 2011 vaccination season; and

2. To describe the occurrence of adverse events related to influenza vaccination in Alberta by attributes of age, sex, geographical indicators (urban or rural), and immigrants versus non-immigrants for the October 2010-April 2011 vaccination season.

#### **1.3 Research Questions**

The research questions are:

1. What are the proportions of people in Alberta vaccinated against influenza for the October 2010-April 2011 vaccination season by: age-group, sex, rural versus urban, immigrants versus non- immigrants, and provider type?

2. Among those vaccinated against influenza in Alberta for the October 2010-April 2011 season, what proportion (by age, sex, rural versus urban, immigrants versus non-immigrants) incurred one or more adverse events following influenza vaccination?

#### **1.4 Statement of Problem**

Influenza is an acute viral disease of the respiratory tract characterized by fever, headache, myalgia, prostration, coryza, sore throat and cough.<sup>1</sup> Influenza affects people of all ages and is an important cause of morbidity, hospitalization, and utilization of medical services. In Canada, between 2000 and 8000 Canadians die of influenza and its complications annually, depending on the severity of the season.<sup>2</sup> There are three types of influenza virus: A, B and C. The influenza morbidity and mortality of concern to humans is from type A and type B influenza viruses.<sup>3</sup> The focus of this thesis is on vaccination coverage of humans against influenza A and B as there is no vaccine for influenza C.

Influenza A and B viruses change antigenically each year, thus a new vaccine must be reformulated each year; people need annual vaccination. If the vaccine antigen does not closely match the circulating strains of virus, protection against infection would not be very good and influenza outbreaks may occur.<sup>3</sup>

Influenza vaccination is the most effective way of protecting oneself against influenza infection.<sup>1</sup> Surveillance relevant to an immunization program should include surveillance of coverage, adverse events, and burden of disease.<sup>4-8</sup> Vaccination coverage and adverse event monitoring are necessary indicators for population-based influenza vaccination programs.<sup>9</sup> Monitoring of vaccination coverage is important in order to determine the extent to which the total population is reached with the vaccine (i.e. detect

changes in the reach of the program) and identify under-vaccinated subpopulations.<sup>10,11</sup> Adverse events monitoring is important for addressing vaccine safety concerns.<sup>5,12</sup> Annual measurement of vaccine effectiveness is also important for influenza because, as mentioned above, the disease and thus the vaccine change every year.

There is a large body of literature that studies influenza vaccination coverage and adverse events following influenza vaccination, however, few have focused on the need for improved methods of vaccine coverage and adverse event monitoring in the general population. The World Health Organization (WHO) has highlighted the usefulness and importance of assessing influenza vaccine coverage and adverse events following influenza vaccination.<sup>7,13</sup>

By using the administrative data from Alberta's publicly funded and administered health-care system, this study attempts to estimate values for influenza vaccine coverage indicators and to describe adverse events related to influenza vaccination for the period October 1, 2010-April 30, 2011.

#### **1.5 Study Rationale**

There are limited data to assess vaccination coverage in Canada and for the most part estimations of seasonal vaccination coverage are primarily available from the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS) which assesses immunization status for seasonal influenza vaccination only for people aged 12 years or older.<sup>14</sup> There are two limitations at least from using this national data. First of all, the CCHS does not capture data on influenza vaccination from those under the age of 12 years and residents of longterm health care facilities, and secondly survey data are based upon respondents' unvalidated self-reports.

The CCHS excludes young children and older age groups who are known to have a high proportion of influenza vaccination and in whom the risk of complications from influenza infections is very high.<sup>15</sup>Consequently, the overall influenza coverage rate is underestimated. Self-reports of influenza vaccination are subject to respondent bias.Studies have shown that influenza vaccine self-reports have high sensitivity and low specificity, suggesting that the real coverage rates may be lower than those reported in the CCHS.<sup>16-19</sup> Furthermore, self-reports of influenza vaccination in CCHS did not capture data on adverse events.

However, there are also limitations to the currently available Alberta data. Although in Alberta, data are available from the actual vaccination records, there are also problems with these data. Alberta Health Services (AHS) produces annual influenza vaccination reports and zonal reporting of coverage rates from each of the five AHS zones.<sup>20-23</sup>These reports are based on the reporting requirements for formerly Alberta Health and Wellness, now Alberta Health (AH) and provide information regarding influenza vaccination rates by priority reason codes.<sup>24</sup>

These reports do not provide information on influenza vaccination coverage and adverse events for all age groups nor vaccination rates by attributes of sex, geographical indicators (urban or rural), nor for immigrants versus non-immigrants, nor provider type. There may be differences in vaccination coverage by these attributes as has been noticed elsewhere: e.g., between rural and urban areas <sup>25,26</sup> and between foreign and non- foreign born individuals. <sup>27,28</sup>It is important to be able to identify subpopulations that are less

likely to be vaccinated for future targeted interventions to increase vaccination coverage. It is also important to be able to identify subpopulations that are more likely to be vulnerable to adverse events following influenza vaccination and to address vaccine safety concerns in those groups. This information is needed to be able to address the reach of the influenza vaccination program and vaccine safety concerns in the population.

Children under the age of 9 years require two doses of influenza vaccine as a primary series for adequate protection. <sup>29</sup>An important methodological issue in measuring coverage in children younger than 9 years of age, i.e. the proportion of children vaccinated with 1 versus 2 doses, is critical for understanding the extent of protection offered by the influenza vaccination of young children.<sup>30</sup>This issue also needs to be addressed in the surveillance program.

This study will fill in the gaps in our knowledge of influenza vaccination coverage and safety by providing baseline analyses against which changes in vaccination coverage and adverse events of influenza vaccination can be monitored and evaluated. Further, in order to improve vaccination rates in Alberta, the vaccination data in this study may be helpful to vaccination program managers who may wish to be able to identify groups with low coverage for future targeted interventions and to identify population groups that are especially vulnerable to adverse events following influenza vaccination in Alberta. The findings from this study may also identify strengths and limitations in the current Alberta surveillance system.

#### **Chapter Two: Background and Literature Review**

#### **2.1 Introduction**

This chapter provides the background information on the influenza vaccination program in the context of health service delivery in Alberta. The chapter also addresses the epidemiology of influenza including the clinical features, burden of disease, control and prevention of influenza. The chapter also summarises previous literature on reporting of adverse events following influenza vaccination in the Alberta context. Finally, a review of previous literature and methodological issues related to influenza vaccination coverage is presented.

Section 2.2 provides a brief overview of the health service delivery in Alberta as it relates to immunization programs in general. Section 2.3 addresses influenza vaccination programs beginning with WHO recommendations and then focuses on the Alberta situation.

#### 2.2 Vaccination in Alberta

AHS is the provincial health authority responsible for planning and delivery of health services, including vaccination services to Alberta residents. Administratively, AHS is made up of five zones (North, South, Central, Calgary and Edmonton) that replaced the former nine regional health authorities. AH is the provincial health ministry and is responsible for procuring vaccines for the provincial immunization programs and setting policies and guidelines for immunization delivery.

Alberta's comprehensive publicly-funded vaccination programs include influenza vaccine and routine immunization schedule that routinely vaccinate against 14 diseases in

children and youth and against 4 diseases in adults.<sup>31</sup> AH sets the program standards for surveillance and targets for immunization rates.<sup>31</sup>

Unlike in other provinces, in Alberta routine childhood vaccinations are exclusively administered by the AHS public health.<sup>32</sup> AHS public health provides publicly funded influenza vaccine to community providers (e.g., pharmacists and physicians). Community providers must sign an agreement that they will account for the vaccine provided, and refer children under the age of 9 years to public health for influenza vaccination.<sup>33</sup>Monitoring of vaccine delivery/coverage in this age group underlines the importance of provider type to immunization surveillance and this is an important reason for estimating coverage by provider type. Information regarding influenza vaccination rates by provider type will help the AHS assess the extent to which this age group is reached with the vaccine.

#### 2.3 Influenza Vaccination Programs: Surveillance and Monitoring

#### 2.3.1 WHO influenza surveillance and monitoring: recommendations

WHO has identified the components of a well-functioning immunization program to include service delivery, cold chain and logistics, immunization coverage, vaccine safety and adverse events following immunization (AEFI), monitoring and surveillance, and strategic indicators.<sup>8</sup> WHO recommends that member states conduct surveillance and monitoring to describe critical features of influenza epidemiology including risk groups, transmission characteristics, and impact.<sup>34</sup>

"The influenza surveillance and monitoring activity collects and analyzes virological and epidemiological data from countries, areas and territories around the

world to monitor global trends in influenza transmission and inform selection of influenza strains for vaccine production."<sup>34</sup>

#### 2.3.2 Alberta's influenza vaccination surveillance and monitoring

#### 2.3.2.1 History of publicly funded influenza program in Alberta

The Alberta's Influenza Immunization Policy (IIP) provides the provincial guidelines for planning and delivery of seasonal influenza vaccines to Albertans<sup>24</sup> while the Alberta Immunization Strategy (AIS) proposes targets for them.<sup>31</sup>Each year, AH takes into consideration the National Advisory Committee on Immunization (NACI) recommendations in the context of Alberta and revises IIP if appropriate. AHS Public Health assumes the sole responsibility for the delivery of the Alberta influenza immunization program and in collaboration with authorized community providers administer vaccines to the general public. AHS public health and community providers are held accountable for vaccine utilization, cold chain maintenance, and recording and reporting of influenza vaccination data and adverse events.<sup>24</sup>

The landscape of publicly funded programs including immunization is changing in Alberta. Prior to 2004, persons 65 years or older or persons aged 6 months or older with a chronic health condition placing them at higher risk of complications of influenza were provided with free influenza vaccines in Alberta. In line with the recommendations of the NACI, in 2004 healthy children aged 6 to 23 months were added to public funding starting for the 2004-2005 season.<sup>35</sup> In 2008, funding was expanded to include healthy children aged up to 59 months (i.e., "< 6 years of age") starting for the 2008-2009 season, and in spring 2009, further expansion to include all persons aged 6 months or older starting for the 2009-2010 season took place.

Alberta's IIP has been a universal publicly funded program since 2009 and individuals 6 months of age and older who reside, employed or go to school in Alberta are eligible to receive provincially funded influenza vaccine under the IIP.<sup>24</sup> Out-of province/ country individuals (i.e. individuals, who do not reside, are not employed or who do not go to school in Alberta) are not eligible for Alberta's provincially funded influenza vaccine and have to pay a fee to get the vaccine.<sup>24</sup>

The scope and responsibility for influenza immunization program delivery and targets are also changing in Alberta. While the AHS Public Health messaging targets children under 9 years of age, specifically children aged 6-23 months, the role of pharmacists in influenza vaccination in Alberta is becoming more visible than previously was the case. For example, for the 2011-2012 influenza season, pharmacists provided 90,000 Albertans with the influenza vaccine compared to 43,000 Albertans in 2010-2011 influenza season.<sup>22,36</sup>

The provincial targets set for the annual influenza season coverage are as follows: 75% for both seniors aged 65 years and over and children aged 6-23 months and 95% for residents of long term care facilities.<sup>31,37</sup>A comparison of the coverage rates among these priority groups for the six influenza seasons for which data were available<sup>38</sup> showed that the rates for residents of long term facilities have hovered around the 90-95% range, while the rates fluctuated between 56-62% for seniors aged 65 years and over and 1664% for children aged 6-23 months respectively.<sup>31,38</sup>Thus Alberta's influenza rates have been consistently below the target for the latter population groups.<sup>38</sup>

In 1999, AH implemented the Adverse Reaction to Immunization (ARI) system for the collection of adverse reaction to immunization events.<sup>39</sup>This system uses the vaccine code to identify the vaccine administered to the person who had the adverse reaction during a related or an associated historical vaccination.<sup>39</sup> The Immunization and Adverse Reactions to Immunization Database (Imm/ARI) captures both the vaccination and adverse events data from 2006 forward from all areas of the province except for First Nations persons who are immunized on-reserve.

#### 2.4 Epidemiology of Influenza

#### 2.4.1 Clinical features of influenza

Influenza is an acute viral disease of the respiratory tract characterized by fever, headache, myalgia, prostration, coryza, sore throat and cough.<sup>1</sup>The virus is spread from person-to person by droplets, particularly small particle aerosols produced when people cough or sneeze.<sup>3,34</sup>

The incubation period averages 2 days, with a range of 1-4 days.<sup>3</sup> Most infected people recover within one to two weeks, while infection in the very young, the elderly, and those with underlying medical conditions can lead to severe complications such as pneumonia and possibly death.<sup>34</sup>

# 2.4.2 Virology of influenza

There are three types of influenza viruses: A, B and C. Influenza A viruses infect a range of mammalian (e.g. pigs and horses) and avian species, whereas type B and C infections are largely restricted to humans.<sup>40</sup>Only types A and B viruses cause human disease of any concern.<sup>40</sup>

Influenza viruses frequently undergo changes in the antigenicity of their major surface proteins through two distinct processes known as antigenic "drift" and "shift".<sup>3,41</sup> Minor mutations causing small changes ("antigenic drift") in the HA (Haemagglutinin) gene enables the virus to evade immune recognition, resulting in seasonal influenza outbreaks during inter-pandemic years.<sup>40</sup> Antigenic drift, which may occur in one or more influenza vaccine components, generally requires seasonal influenza vaccines to be reformulated annually.<sup>1</sup>

# 2.4.3 Burden and impact of influenza

Worldwide, influenza illness causes a high burden of suffering and results in substantial societal cost in terms of lost productivity, health service utilization, school and work absenteeism, affecting individuals and families.  $^{42,43}$ Influenza occurs globally with an annual attack rate estimated at 5–10% in adults and 20–30% in children.<sup>40</sup> Rates of influenza infection are highest in children, but rates of serious illness and death are highest in older persons (> 65 years) and persons with underlying medical conditions.<sup>40</sup>

Influenza infection is the most common vaccine-preventable disease among children in Canada.<sup>35</sup> Children under two years suffer the highest influenza attack rates (30-50%), which are associated with high rates of health care utilization<sup>44</sup> and a risk of hospitalization during influenza season similar to that of high-risk individuals and the elderly.<sup>35</sup>

#### 2.5 Control and Prevention of Influenza

#### 2.5.1 Influenza vaccine and vaccination against seasonal (epidemic) influenza

Although hand hygiene and antiviral drugs have a limited role in influenza prevention and control, the cornerstone of prevention is vaccination.<sup>1</sup>"Vaccines should be administered using the recommended dose, route, site and schedule to optimize vaccine effectiveness and reduce the risk of local reactions or other adverse events."<sup>45</sup>

Due to frequent antigenic change (antigenic drift) resulting from point mutations that occur during viral replication, influenza vaccines are reformulated each year based upon recommendations from WHO international surveillance.<sup>46</sup> Trivalent inactivated vaccine (TIV) and live attenuated influenza virus vaccine (LAIV) are developed each year for protection against the expected predominant influenza strains.<sup>40</sup> Both vaccines contain the predicted antigenic variants of influenza viruses.<sup>40</sup>

In Canada, for the 2010-2011 season (the study period), the TIV manufactured as per WHO recommendations contained three components that offered protection to three individual strains. The composition of the TIV was as follows:

A/California/7/2009(H1N1)-like, A/Perth/16/2009(H3N2)-like, and Brisbane/60/2008 (Victoria lineage)-like antigens.<sup>47</sup> While the B component remains unchanged from the 2009-2010 seasonal TIV, the A (H1N1) component was derived from the 2009 H1N1 pandemic virus and the A (H3N2) component was new.<sup>47</sup> In Alberta, for the 2010-2011 season, only TIV was used.<sup>22</sup>

#### 2.6 Reporting of Adverse Events Following Influenza Vaccination

#### 2.6.1 Importance of monitoring adverse events

All vaccines can cause adverse events and no vaccine is perfectly safe or effective.<sup>48</sup> As the reports of vaccine adverse events are becoming increasingly frequent, vaccine safety concerns have become increasingly prominent in immunization programs.<sup>48</sup>Therefore, surveillance and monitoring for adverse events after vaccination is a critical component of an immunization program.<sup>4-6,49</sup>

Vaccines can be considered as a public good being provided not only for the benefit of the individual but also for public protection.<sup>48,49</sup>Although generally speaking, vaccines have to a large extent been demonstrated to be safe, there have been clear instances of vaccine-associated harm.<sup>50,51</sup> Therefore, the overall comparison of vaccine adverse events and benefits from the vaccination program should be evaluated. On a population basis, the risk-benefit ratio is evaluated by expert committees whose mandate is to maximize the benefit for the whole population by averaging risks and benefits and placing greater value on patient safety.<sup>48</sup>

Despite the public health benefit of vaccination, concerns over vaccine safety may be the most important issue to affect immunization coverage<sup>5</sup> and the success<sup>52</sup> and sustainability of an immunization program.<sup>12,48</sup>As a public health issue, these vaccination concerns could undermine immunization program and may, in turn result in harm through resurgence of disease as vaccination coverage declines.<sup>5,50</sup> Therefore they must be addressed in order to ensure that the public confidence is maintained in the safety and efficacy of vaccines.<sup>50</sup> Because vaccines are typically administered not only to large populations, but also to otherwise healthy individuals, lower rates of adverse events could translate into important numbers of cases at a population level.<sup>48,50</sup>This makes events occurring at ~1 in 10,000 to 1 in 1,000,000 doses of concern for vaccines.<sup>48</sup> Vaccine pre-licensing trials are designed to be able to establish safety by detecting events occurring in the range of 1 in 10,000 reactions, but cannot reliably detect rarer reactions.<sup>5,53</sup>This is why it is important to do post-marketing surveillance, i.e. include AEFI monitoring as part of surveillance related to an immunization program.

#### 2.6.2 Monitoring of adverse events following immunization (AEFI)

Passive surveillance systems have been developed in different countries to routinely monitor for such events. They rely on voluntary reports from vaccination stakeholders such as physicians, community providers, other health-care professionals, vaccine companies or sponsors and the public.<sup>6</sup> In Canada, AEFIs are reported to the Canadian Adverse Events Following Immunization Surveillance System (CAEFISS) either directly or through the provincial/ territorial public health departments.<sup>54</sup> This database is managed by the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC).

WHO defines an adverse event following immunization (AEFI) as "a medical incident that takes place after an immunization, causes concern and is believed to be caused by immunization."<sup>55,56</sup> It may be related to the vaccine itself or its handling or administration.<sup>56</sup> The event reported may be caused by immunization (causally related) or may have been coincidentally related to timing of immunization without necessarily being caused by the vaccine or the immunization process.<sup>6</sup>

WHO classifies AEFI outcomes as 'serious' and 'non-serious' based on the outcome or action.<sup>55</sup> A serious AEFI is defined as a report that, according to the reporter, resulted in life-threatening illness, hospitalization, prolongation of hospitalization, persistent or significant disability, or death, or an intervention to prevent one of these outcomes.<sup>55,57,58</sup>

#### 2.6.2.1 Alberta: AEFI monitoring

Alberta currently uses a paper-based passive reporting system to monitor AEFI. AEFI data are reported on a form ('Report of Adverse Reaction to Immunizing Agentsattached see Appendix) and submitted to the AH's Surveillance and Assessment Branch Immunization Program. Currently, all the five AHS zones collect AEFI data on paper forms that are filled out by hand and then submitted to AH where they are later entered into the electronic database.

AEFI reports are sent from the AH's Imm/ARI electronically every 2 weeks to the PHAC. Case reports on AEFI are collected from the provincial and territorial health departments, health care professionals and the pharmaceutical industry.<sup>59</sup>The data are stored in the Canadian Adverse Events Following Immunization (CAEFI) database and are used to detect adverse events that may require more in-depth investigation.<sup>54</sup>

#### 2.7 Published literature on influenza vaccination coverage in Canada

There are limited published data to assess influenza vaccination coverage in Canada. A scoping review of published literature on influenza vaccination coverage in Canada performed in 2012 showed that the literature on influenza vaccination was not limited to coverage measurements but also addressed themes that were relevant to the surveillance of influenza vaccination programs.<sup>60</sup>Of the 113 articles reviewed by the authors, 42% actually measured influenza vaccination coverage.<sup>60</sup>

Moreover, the authors identified the following themes in the literature: adverse events (8%); communication, knowledge, attitude, perception regarding influenza immunization (15%); influenza-related hospitalizations, visits and attack rates (8.8%) and other 26.6%.<sup>60</sup> However, there is a paucity of Canadian research to inform about the variations in influenza vaccination coverage in terms of populations (e.g. immigrants, age groups, rural) and health disparities.

For the most part estimations of seasonal vaccination coverage are primarily available from the CCHS which assesses immunization status for seasonal influenza vaccination only for people aged 12 years or older <sup>14</sup> (see for the section 1.5 for a discussion of the limitations of CCHS). To some extent, provincial variations in the proportion of people aged 12 or older receiving an influenza vaccination in 2003 reflect public funding of immunization.<sup>61</sup> The proportion in Alberta (29.1%) was above the national figure (25.5%) in 2010/2011 and had risen substantially since 2003 (from 23%).<sup>14</sup>

The literature suggests that influenza vaccination rates are low in Canada<sup>14</sup> and in the general population.<sup>62</sup> Canadian influenza vaccine coverage studies targeting the over-64 age group have recorded values as high as 45-69%<sup>14,15,63</sup>, which are comparable to those reported by other European countries and the United States of America.<sup>64-66</sup> This contrasts with 14-32% influenza vaccine coverage in the general Canadian population.<sup>14,15,63</sup> In 2003, 67% of seniors (age 65 years or older) reported having had an influenza vaccination the previous year-almost unchanged from 2000/01 <sup> $^{61}$ </sup>, but declined to 59.1% in 2010/11.<sup>14</sup> And in Alberta, the 2003 figure was 64%, with a significant decline to 58.9% in 2010/11.<sup>20,61</sup>The proportion of people aged 12 years or older with chronic conditions who had an influenza vaccination was below the national figure (47%) in Alberta (37%) in 2003.<sup>61</sup>

It is important for researchers to understand the methodological issues around influenza vaccination coverage in order to contribute findings that are meaningfully comparable over time and across studies and provinces. Several methodological issues in estimating influenza vaccination have been addressed in the published literature (see section 2.9 details Methodological Issues in Estimating Vaccination on Coverage). Methodologically important issues that are particularly problematic for making comparisons result from the lack of standardization in data collection methodology and reporting definitions <sup>67</sup>(see section 2.9 on details Methodological Issues in Estimating Vaccination Coverage).

#### 2.8 Epidemiology of Influenza vaccination

#### 2.8.1 Influenza vaccination coverage

Vaccination coverage can be described simply as the proportion of defined groups that are vaccinated in a geographical area by a certain point in time.<sup>9</sup>For influenza, factors such as age, number of doses, and timeliness of doses and schedule of vaccination should be taken into consideration due to clear differences in the protection against influenza infection.<sup>29,30,68,69</sup>

Immunization coverage is a key measure of immunization system performance.<sup>8</sup> Immunization coverage rates are considered a sensitive indicator of the health of a population and the capacity of a health system to deliver essential services, and their measurement is required to monitor programs and progress towards national immunization targets.<sup>10,11</sup> If measured on an ongoing basis, coverage rates can be used to detect changes in the reach of immunization programs and identify underimmunized subpopulations.<sup>10-11</sup>

#### 2.8.2 Monitoring influenza vaccination coverage in Alberta

Prior to Fall 2009, Alberta's targeted annual influenza vaccination relied on ageand risk-based recommendations of vaccines for persons 65 years or older or person aged 6 months; or older with a chronic health condition placing them at a higher risk of complications of influenza, or healthy children aged up to 59 months (i.e., "< 6 years of age").Annual AH reports have shown not only that the influenza coverage rates were below the targets but the rates have gradually declined among persons aged 65 years and older and children aged 6-23 months from the 2004-2005 season to the 2011-2012 season.<sup>38</sup> Because rates of serious illness are highest in these targeted groups <sup>40</sup>, Alberta's universal publicly funded influenza vaccination program uses the priority reason codes to identify this high-risk population and estimate coverage rates for this population.

Monitoring of coverage rates among low- and high- risk groups is essential in order to determine if low coverage levels clearly indicate a problem of public health to reach the target groups.Vaccination of high-risk persons during the vaccination season is important in order to increase the proportion of high-risk Albertans protected against influenza and to reduce the transmission of viruses in the population by reducing the transmission levels among contacts of high –risk persons.<sup>70</sup> Individuals who are healthy also benefit from influenza vaccination.<sup>71</sup>

One of the challenges facing influenza vaccination programs is to identify all the children aged under nine years who require two doses of influenza vaccine as a primary series. Monitoring of coverage rates in this age group is important to ensure that they are adequately protected against influenza.<sup>30</sup>

#### 2.9 Methodological Issues in Estimating Vaccination Coverage

#### 2.9.1 Overview of methodological issues

There are several challenges in measuring vaccination coverage and comparisons across studies are challenging due to a lack of standardization in data collection methodology and reporting definitions.<sup>67</sup> Measurements are being made but they are not made using the same methods over time and across place. Some of these challenges relate to the definitions of 'vaccinated' (the numerator), the type of vaccination status measures,<sup>72</sup> whether studies reported complete or partial or combined rates,<sup>67,73</sup> who is included (the denominator), the data sources for the numerator and denominator, <sup>67</sup> and whether cross sectional or birth cohort data are used.<sup>74</sup>

An important methodological issue for immunization coverage assessment in children is whether the method of counting immunization doses accounts for appropriate timing and age using the minimum spacing criteria and the minimum age criteria stipulated by the vaccination schedules.<sup>72,75</sup> This is because differences in measurements could result from the differences in vaccines, vaccine doses, different age and spacing criteria (i.e. whether vaccinations are excluded if given earlier than the minimal age or shorter intervals than recommended by the vaccination guideline) and the purpose of assessment.<sup>75-77</sup>

An important methodological issue in measuring coverage in children younger than nine years of age relates to the number of appropriate doses of the vaccine they received, i.e. whether they received a single dose in the year after completion of a primary series (complete coverage) or received only a single dose in the year (partial coverage). The proportion of children vaccinated with 1 versus 2 doses is critical for understanding the extent of the protection offered by the influenza vaccination of young children.<sup>29,30,68,69</sup> The terms 'complete' or 'full' (i.e. two doses), 'partial' (i.e. one dose), and 'combined' (i.e. one or more doses) influenza vaccination coverage) only relate to children aged less than nine years.<sup>67,73,78,79</sup>

The estimation and interpretations of influenza coverage rates can be challenging. The challenges are as follows:

- Definitions of 'vaccinated' (the numerator)
- Who is included in the vaccination (the denominator)
- Generating estimates of numerators
- Selection of the appropriate indicators for coverage rates (i.e. receipt of influenza vaccine: 1 dose, 2 doses 28 days apart in children < nine years of age, 1 or more doses, etc.)
- Data sources

#### 2.9.2 Definitions of 'Vaccinated'

The main difficulties in estimation of influenza vaccination coverage is defining 'vaccinated' and generating appropriate numerator and denominator data counts. These relate to the number of doses required <sup>29,30,68,69</sup>, whether doses are administered and counted according to the recommended vaccination guidelines or not <sup>47</sup>, and the
timeliness of the doses in terms of both the influenza season and the time interval between the two dose administrations.<sup>79,80</sup>

For the study influenza season (2010-2011), the Canadian National Advisory Committee on Immunization (NACI) recommended two doses of seasonal TIV to children under age 9 with no prior TIV, with an interval of 4 weeks.<sup>47</sup> Children under 9 years of age who received one dose or more doses of TIV in the past are recommended to receive one dose per season thereafter. This recommendation applies whether or not the child received monovalent pandemic 2009 influenza A (pH1N1) vaccine in 2009-2010. For reasons related to immunological priming, NACI further recommended a two-dose schedule for previously unvaccinated children under 2 years of age and also stated that two doses may need to be considered in the second season for these children regardless of their vaccination history if there is a major antigenic (B lineage) change in vaccine component between sequential seasons.<sup>47</sup> However, NACI awaits further corroborative evidence for this recommendation for the older children.<sup>47</sup>

Because influenza vaccinations are provided annually within certain time period, delivering 2 doses of vaccine to all previously unvaccinated children under 2 years of age within a short period of time may also be logistically challenging.<sup>30,67,81,82</sup> For children under 9 years of age, for reasons related to immunological priming, children who had received only 1 dose may not be adequately protected.<sup>47</sup> For this reason when assessing vaccination coverage it is important to determine whether or not a child is adequately vaccinated (i.e. has received 2 doses) according to this definition. <sup>29,30,68,69</sup> Studies have shown that a large proportion of children did not receive the required second dose necessary to achieve a protective response.<sup>78,80,83,84</sup>

Studies have also demonstrated clear differences in the protection between receipt of one and two doses of influenza vaccine. In studies primarily designed to assess influenza vaccine effectiveness, Ritzwoller *et al.* (2005) and Shuler *et al.* (2007) independently demonstrated that receipt of two doses provided adequate protection against influenza illness while receipt of one dose did not achieve a significant reduction in illness among children 6-23 months of age.<sup>29,69</sup> These studies provided corroborative evidence for the recommendation of the second dose for optimal protection against influenza.

The definition of 'vaccinated' in several studies included having 'one or more doses'. Estimating vaccination coverage in this way may not take the dose schedule into consideration. This may amount to counting 'crude vaccinations' which may ultimately lead to overestimated coverage since it does not inform about the level of protection in the community.<sup>85</sup>

Other studies have made a clear distinction between receipt of 1 and 2 doses and estimated vaccination rates for receipt of 1 and 2 doses respectively.<sup>79,80</sup> For example, Moran et al.2009<sup>67</sup> conducted a telephone survey of influenza vaccination in a sample of 4854 Ontario children aged 6 months -11 years from 3029 households using a random digit dialing. The authors estimated coverage rates for receipt of at least 1 dose and 2 doses of influenza vaccine among children aged 6-23 months. In an attempt to compare the coverage rates for Ontario children aged 6-23 months with estimates from other provinces, the authors noted that only the combined rates (complete and partial coverage) could be reported since the extraction of appropriate number of doses was not possible.

Furthermore, the authors noted that the coverage estimates from these four provinces (Ontario, Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Alberta) not only were estimated using varying denominator definitions, but also used varying numerator data sources. The differences in the coverage rates among children aged 6-23 months by provinces were in a large measure caused by the differences in methodology, which, in turn, may flow from the differences in the goals and purposes of the vaccination programs. This study underscores the need for consistent definitions, and standardization in data collection methodology if comparisons of influenza coverage rates are to be meaningful across Canadian provinces.

Therefore, the definitions of 'vaccinated' or 'not vaccinated 'for children should take into consideration the number of doses administered in a specified time period due to the clear differences in protection against influenza infection. This will also facilitate the comparisons of the study results.

# 2.9.3 Data Sources

Estimation of coverage depends on the availability of both the numerators and denominators. Influenza vaccination data are available from several sources including surveys, medical records, vaccination cards, administrative data, vaccination registries, immunization information systems, and insurance/billing records. However, the quality of the data can vary and careful consideration is needed when deciding to use any particular data source. Each data source has its advantages, limitations, and validity for assessing influenza vaccination coverage.

#### 2.9.3.1 Numerator data sources

The numerator is a count of persons vaccinated obtained from a data source. Survey is one of the most common methods for the assessment of the prevalence or incidence of various health conditions in a population.<sup>86</sup> The prevalence or incidence estimates obtained from surveys depend on many factors such as the accuracy of self-reports and the sampling strategy.

Household surveys are the probably the most commonly used data source for numerator counts in the assessment of influenza vaccination rates. They rely primarily on parental recall and immunization cards are often used to elicit vaccination history. The main limitations of surveys are low response rates, recall bias, selection bias, <sup>67</sup> non-participation bias and inability to assess specific subpopulations.<sup>87</sup>The Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS), which assesses immunization status for seasonal influenza vaccination only for people aged 12 years or older, is a self-reported survey data based on the respondent's response to the receipt of influenza vaccine in the past 12 months.<sup>14</sup>

#### **2.9.4 Denominator Data Sources**

The denominator is a count of persons included in the calculation of coverage rates, i.e. persons eligible for vaccination. The selection of a denominator may involve differences in the target population, the sampling strategy, and other special criteria such as who is included or excluded.<sup>76</sup>

Denominator data (counts) are can be challenging to generate. As there is no single ideal source for denominator data, several potential denominator data sources should be identified for generating vaccination coverage rates for influenza. Ideally, the data source for the denominator should have the potential to represent the population eligible for influenza vaccine in a geographical area by a specific time point or period of interest. This will take into consideration that influenza vaccine is not administered to children less than 6 months of age.

A cross-sectional survey captures the experience of a defined birth cohort, thus allowing for a retrospective reconstruction of vaccination history up to the time of a survey.<sup>99</sup> Assessment of childhood vaccination usually involves defining a birth cohort and the coverage is then assessed in one defined cohort. This usually involves specifying an interval of dates of births and children whose dates of birth fall within this interval will be included in the assessment. For example, one study of the assessment of influenza vaccination coverage among children aged 6-23 months following the 2002-2003 influenza season surveyed only parents of children aged 6-23 months born between December 1, 2000 and March 31, 2002.<sup>98</sup>

# 2.9.5 Validity and reliability of administrative data and immunization registries

Administrative data are described as "electronic data records that are typically generated at the time of hospital discharge or provision of other services."<sup>88</sup> The use of healthcare administrative databases in research is becoming increasingly common.<sup>88</sup> Although not originally collected for research purposes, administrative data can be used as a tool for planning and surveillance because of their availability in an electronic format as well as timeliness and large population coverage.<sup>88</sup>

Administrative data in general are commonly used to identify people with chronic diseases for research. The quality of data in the administrative databases varies widely in the amount of research. Great emphasis has been placed on hospital discharge abstracts, less emphasis on physician claims, and almost no emphasis on nursing home data.<sup>89</sup> The quality of immunization registries has also received little attention.<sup>89</sup> The quality of data is a reflection of both the completeness of a dataset and its accuracy.<sup>89</sup>

Ballard et al. (1997)<sup>17</sup> assessed the validity of reporting of influenza immunizations in administrative data compared with medical record reviews and surveys in the 1994-1995 and the 1995-1996 influenza vaccination seasons in the United States. They found medical record review-based documentation of influenza immunizations in 83% of cases from the influenza immunizations in administrative data, with a higher percentage of immunizations not documented in the medical record than in the administrative data (19.3% vs 13.3% respectively). Moreover, the estimated influenza vaccination coverage rate increased when the survey data were added.

The authors concluded that "telephone surveys resulted in higher and probably more valid estimates of influenza immunization rates than did analysis of administrative data and medical records."<sup>17</sup> This study highlights the fact that people may obtain influenza vaccination from diverse sources leading to inability to capture many vaccinations from any single source. The possible scattering of medical records across different databases and service providers may also have contributed to the failure to capture many vaccinations.<sup>72</sup>

The quality of the physician claims has also been compared with the survey responses and clinical measures to assess their reliability using diagnosis as the most

examined variable.<sup>89</sup> However, few available studies focussed on the validity of the physician claims for influenza vaccinations. Wang *et al.* (2009) and Kwong *et al.* (2007) validated the Ontario Health Insurance Plan (OHIP) billing claims against self-reported influenza vaccination in the CCHS data.<sup>90,91</sup> These two studies used a single physician billing fee code and/or a combination of fee codes to define influenza vaccinations in the OHIP databases. Both studies found that the physicians billing claims were highly specific for influenza vaccination, but only fairly sensitive.

The authors suggested that the rates of influenza vaccination in OHIP data might be underestimated since 35% of individuals are not vaccinated in doctor's offices; their vaccinations would not be expected to be captured in OHIP dataset. It was recommended that the use of codes specific for influenza vaccines would result in a more accurate determination of coverage.<sup>90,91</sup>Another limitation of the physician claims is that since the billing codes have not been validated, the physician claims might not give an accurate picture of preventive health services utilization for influenza vaccination.<sup>90</sup>

Immunization registries are described as "confidential, population-based computerized systems that contain information regarding children's vaccinations."<sup>92</sup> The data from immunization monitoring can be used for timely monitoring of influenza vaccination rates while also tracking multiple doses.<sup>93</sup> "A registry with added capabilities, such as vaccine management, adverse event reporting, lifespan vaccination histories, and linkages with electronic data sources, is called an immunization information system (IIS)."<sup>94</sup>

In 1988 Manitoba established an immunization registry at the inception of the Manitoba Immunization Monitoring System (MIMS).<sup>95</sup>MIMS contains the immunization

27

records of every Manitoba resident with a valid Manitoba Health personal health identification number and includes the data from all immunization providers. <sup>95</sup>MIMS is capable of measuring and augmenting coverage among an entire population of children and can be programmed to produce reminder letters on a monthly basis using parents' or legal guardians' address.<sup>95,96</sup>

Roberts *et al.* (1994) validated the childhood immunizations recorded in MIMS against chart review and found the immunization data to be highly accurate.<sup>96</sup> "Comparisons between physician and MIMS records have shown excellent agreement, with 2% or fewer immunizations coded incorrectly and service dates matching 98% of the time."<sup>96</sup> The likely limitations in MIMS are as follows: "There are several points in the immunization data entry process where errors can occur, producing erroneous immunization records in MIMS. These include physician coding and data entry errors at the physician billing level, MIMS data entry clerk input errors, public health line listing errors, etc."<sup>95</sup>

## 2.9.6 Validity of self-reported influenza vaccination

There is extensive literature on self-reported information to determine influenza vaccination coverage. Apart from issues such as survey response rates and sample representativeness, the validity and reliability of the responses often come into question. In these studies, medical records data (immunization record review) are frequently used to confirm vaccination status. Studies comparing parental reports of influenza vaccination with immunization record review in young children have found good levels of agreement but over reporting by parents often occurs.<sup>97,98</sup> The results suggest that self-reported vaccination status may be both reliable and valid.<sup>16-19</sup>

## 2.9.7 Urban/ Rural Indicators Comparisons

Estimation of rural and urban influenza coverage is of interest because studies in Canada have shown that geographic location (urban/rural) can influence the quality of health care. <sup>100,101</sup> In Canada, it has been shown that rural residents on average have shorter life expectancies and are less healthy than urban residents.<sup>100</sup> It is therefore important to understand the factors that influence health service utilization in rural population.

This study used the postal code information contained in the AHCIP (Alberta Health Care Insurance Plan) Central Stakeholder Registry (CSR) as geographic indicator of residence (urban/rural).AHCIP Central Stakeholder Registry is largely based on self-reported information and is prone to errors which may limit the accuracy of the data. The accuracy of data will reflect the information the applicants for AHCIP provide. Errors could also arise from data entry and /or interpretation by data entry staff.

It is also important to note that there are differences in the methods used by AH and Statistics Canada to define geographic populations.<sup>102</sup> One of the major differences lies in assigning geographic location of residents.<sup>102</sup> AH uses the mailing postal code of residence for geographic placement of residents and this can be different from the physical address, especially in rural areas where post offices boxes are used.<sup>102</sup> The Census uses the physical address of the residents which has greater precision than the postal codes.<sup>102</sup>

There are several limitations in using postal codes as geographic indicators of residence. These include the following: "the residential mailing postal code used in AHCIP Registry may not always reflect an individual's physical residential address."<sup>102</sup> "Postal code-derived populations from the AHCIP Registry underestimate the rural populations, and in some cases, even report no residents in these geographic units."<sup>102</sup>

# 2.9.8 Immigrants versus foreign born versus ethnicity

The literature suggests that there may be differences in vaccination coverage between foreign and non- foreign born individuals or between immigrants and non-immigrants.<sup>27,28</sup> It is important to discover if coverage rate varies by subgroups or among different populations. If this is so, this may suggest a need to target interventions to those specific groups if there are disparities or a need for increased culturally competent public health immunization interventions to increase coverage among those specific groups.<sup>28</sup>

For the purposes of this study, immigrants are persons who are listed in the Alberta immigrant registry and whose place of birth is outside Canada. Immigrants are persons who have acquired the landed immigrant status in Canada.<sup>27</sup> Foreign born persons are persons whose country of origin is outside Canada.

Based on research in Canada, studies have shown that immigrants or children identified as immigrants were more likely to have received influenza vaccination.<sup>15,103,104</sup> or were more likely to be up-to date (UTD) for routine childhood vaccinations at two years.<sup>27</sup> Other studies of influenza and childhood vaccination coverage have produced

contradictory findings, whereby immigrants and foreign born children were less likely to have received the influenza vaccine.<sup>28,105,106</sup>

Factors that may account for these opposing findings include differences in sample populations among studies <sup>15,27,103,104</sup>, whether the study adjusted for other possible covariates <sup>15,27,103,104</sup>, and whether the study relates to ethnicity rather than immigration.<sup>28,107</sup>

#### 2.9.9 Male/ Female Comparisons

Studies of influenza vaccination coverage have shown that women were more likely than men to have received the influenza vaccine.In studies using multivariate logistic regression models to identify the effect of sex, holding other characteristics equal, men had significantly low odds of vaccination compared with women.<sup>61,108</sup>

#### 2.10 Summary of Literature Review

Influenza is a disease of public health importance and influenza vaccination provides protection against influenza. Measuring vaccine coverage and monitoring adverse events following vaccination are key indicators for influenza vaccine program evaluation and useful aid in program management and decision making.

Because influenza vaccination provides significant health benefits for all age and risk groups, monitoring influenza vaccination coverage in all age and risk groups will help determine if adequate levels of protection in the population are achieved. Surveillance and monitoring for adverse events after vaccination are critical components of immunization programs for addressing vaccine safety concerns. It is important for researchers to understand the methodological issues around influenza vaccination coverage in order to contribute findings that are meaningfully comparable over time and across studies and place.

#### **Chapter Three: Methods**

# **3.1 Introduction**

This chapter addresses the methodology used to answer the research questions. The chapter includes the study design, study population, study period, and the data sources.

## 3.2 Study design

This study used a retrospective observational design in which administrative data were used to describe adverse events of influenza vaccination and to estimate influenza vaccination coverage for the 2010-2011 influenza vaccination season in Alberta.

For the 2010/11 influenza season, AH's population-based dataset for influenza vaccination, that captures all ages, rural and urban areas, and influenza vaccinations administered by pharmacists and physicians, was available to the researcher. This study used all the available data for the 2010-2011influenza season.

# **3.3 Study population**

The study population is comprised of all persons aged 6 months or older in the province of Alberta who were eligible for publicly funded influenza vaccination between October 1, 2010 and April 30, 2011 inclusive.

# 3.4 Study period

For the purpose of this research, an "influenza season" runs from October 1, 2010 to September 30, 2011. The study's "influenza vaccination season" runs from October 1,

2010 to April 30, 2011.In Alberta, first and annual doses of influenza vaccine were administered for the 2010-2011 season until April 15<sup>th</sup>, 2011 with the second dose administered until May 15<sup>th</sup>, 2011.<sup>20</sup> However, for this study the analyses were based on data provided to the researcher up to April 30, 2011.

# **3.5 Databases**

Vaccination data for all persons six months of age and older were retrieved from the following three AH databases: Immunization and Adverse Reactions to Immunization (Imm/ARI) registry, the Alberta Blue Cross (ABC) database and the Fee-for-Service Administrative Claims Database (Supplemental Enhanced Service Event System-SESE). The adverse events data for influenza were retrieved from the Imm/ARI system for the 2010-11 influenza season.The fourth AH database known as the immigrant registry provided the counts of immigrants in Alberta.

The data were created as four separate files (the flu file, the second dose file, the AEFI file and the immigrant file) by AH personnel who had access to the PHN and performed the file linkage and data aggregation prior to releasing it to the researcher. The data were extracted using the PHN, which is a unique lifetime identifier. Figure 3.1 shows how the preliminary database linkages and aggregation of the flu file were performed using the PHNs for deterministic linkage. The creation of the second dose file (two influenza vaccine doses) was determined as outlined in Figure 3.1 such that subjects were counted twice in Imm/ARI using the vaccine code "FLU" during the study period. The AEFI file was extracted as a table in the Imm/ARI registry and the

immigration registry is created annually from the AHCIP central stakeholder registry of new Albertans

Figure 3.1 Schematic presentation of database linkages and aggregation for the flu file



### **3.6 Data Sources**

#### 3.6.1 Alberta health care insurance plan (AHCIP) central stakeholder registry (CSR)

The AHCIP Central Stakeholder Registry captures over 99% of Alberta's residents and information on each insured person is maintained in a provincial registration file that contains demographic information, as well as a unique personal health number (PHN) for linking the registration file to a variety of health data sources.<sup>109</sup> The demographic information contained in the database includes name, address with postal code, date of birth, and sex.

The number of registrants as of mid-year registered on the AHCIP was used as the estimate for the population of Alberta in 2010. However, these estimates exclude members of the Armed Forces, Royal Canadian Mounted Police, people in federal penitentiaries, or those who opted out of the AHCIP, and persons from other provinces during their first three months in Alberta. First Nations persons are included in the AHCIP registration file but their healthcare is covered by the federal government.

## 3.6.2 Immunization and adverse reactions to immunization (Imm/ARI) registry

The Imm/ARI Registry is used in Alberta to collect administrative data for immunizations and adverse events. This database is managed by the AH.The Imm/ARI database contains individual level immunization records, including data on adverse events following immunization for all publicly funded vaccines. In addition to an individual record of each vaccine given, this database also includes PHN, date vaccine administered, manufacturer and lot number, dosage, site vaccine administered (e.g., right arm), method of administration (e.g., oral, subcutaneous injection), and influenza vaccine reason code (Imm/ARI priority code).

The Imm/ARI registry is still collecting data for some years but has complete data for the study period for this research. The Imm/ARI registry captures vaccines given by the public health nurses. Vaccines administered on reserves and in the context of occupational and safety and employer groups are not captured by Imm/ARI. Although influenza vaccination data for residents of long-term care (LTC) facilities are included in Imm/ARI for most but not all LTC facilities, vaccination data for AHS LTC facilities are included in Imm/ARI (Personal Communication, Kim Simmonds, Manager, Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Surveillance and Assessment Branch Family and Population Health Division Alberta Health, July 5, 2013).

For influenza vaccinations not administered in the mass clinics, the Edmonton zone records data on paper forms that are entered in an electronic system. In other zones, the public health nurses enter data into an electronic system. In the mass influenza clinics, the paper forms are completed by a public health nurse and then data entry people enter the data into the AHS source system and the data are submitted to Imm/ARI (Personal Communication, Kim Simmonds, Manager, Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Surveillance and Assessment Branch Family and Population Health Division Alberta Health, July 19, 2013).

Community providers collected influenza immunization event data on influenza immunization forms (client immunization records) in written or electronic format <sup>33</sup>.Community providers were required to submit immunization data to AHS twice each

37

influenza season (December 31<sup>st</sup> and March 31<sup>st</sup>).<sup>22,33</sup> Influenza immunization event data from physicians and pharmacists are entered into the Supplemental Enhanced Service Event System (SESE) and Alberta Blue Cross databases respectively.SESE and Imm/ARI do not communicate with each other and data are not transferred between the sources (personal communication, Larry Svenson, Director, Surveillance and Assessment, Alberta Health, January 29, 2013).The vaccine code "FLU" <sup>39</sup>was used to identify the reported adverse events related to influenza in Imm/ARI.

Imm/ARI is validated using the stakeholder register for the client demographics and reviewed by AHS and AH for immunization details. Finally there are data submission rules that further reduce the likelihood of incorrect data submission (Personal Communication, Kim Simmonds, Manager, Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Surveillance and Assessment Branch Family and Population Health Division Alberta Health, July 5, 2013).

## *3.6.3 Supplemental enhanced service event system (Physicians claims database)*

The official name, since November 1993, of the physician claims database is the supplemental enhanced service event (SESE). The database is quite large, but a number of the fields are related to the claim payment process. This database includes information on the patient (e.g. PHN, date of birth, age at service, postal code), the provider (e.g. provider identifier, specialty) the service event (e.g. location, type of facility, diagnostic codes, procedure codes), and the payment (e.g. amount claimed, amount assessed application of fee modifiers) (personal communication, Larry Svenson, Director, Surveillance and Assessment, Alberta Health, January 29, 2013).

When a physician administers the seasonal vaccine to a patient who is over six months of age, a medical record of the visit is generated. This is considered to be an insured service. However, there is no vaccine-specific billing code. The physician gets paid for the service by submitting a claim to Alberta Health. To support the claim, the physician provides the PHN of the patient, the date and location of service, up to three diagnostic codes (4-digit ICD (International Classification of Diseases)-9 coding), and the procedure performed (using the Canadian Classification of Procedures) (personal communication, Larry Svenson, Director, Surveillance and Assessment, AH, January 29, 2013).

In addition to the diagnostic codes, the health service code to be billed is 13.59A (intramuscular or subcutaneous injections).<sup>109,110</sup>The health service code (13.59A) was the only fee code consistently used in this study to define as well as count the number of influenza vaccinations administered by physicians. In Alberta, the fee codes are not vaccine specific.

#### 3.6.4 Alberta Blue Cross (ABC)

Alberta Blue Cross provides supplementary health and dental benefit plans for individuals and families, seniors, and large and small employers.<sup>111</sup> The Alberta Blue Cross database contains the record (for each person vaccinated) of vaccines administered by pharmacists and includes pharmacy claims for seniors and persons on assistance.

"Only pharmacists with the authorization to administer vaccines by injection from the Alberta College of Pharmacists (ACP) will be able to access, administer, and bill Alberta Blue Cross for provincially funded influenza vaccine"<sup>112</sup>. The scope of practice for pharmacists is restricted to patients aged 5 and older for vaccines other than influenza vaccine.<sup>112</sup> For publicly funded influenza vaccine, pharmacists have agreed to only vaccinate people over 9 years of age, i.e. the College of Pharmacists has agreed to this vaccination restriction for influenza vaccination, but only for influenza vaccination.<sup>33,112</sup> Data on immunizations administered by pharmacists in this study are only captured through ABC.

# 3.6.5 Alberta Immigrant Registry

The Alberta immigrant registry captures the counts of immigrants from 1983-2011. This registry uses the AHCIP Central Stakeholder Registry to identify people who have migrated into Alberta since 1984.<sup>113</sup> The datasets provided to the researcher contained aggregated data by age at immigration, sex, and year of immigration. Current data for 2010-2011 were included, which was the most relevant data for the study period. However, the data prior to 2004 were incomplete.

"This registry uses the Alberta Health Care Insurance Plan Central Stakeholder Registry (CSR) to identify people who have migrated into Alberta since 1984.Immigration information, such as country or province of origin and date of arrival is typically provided when people register for health care coverage under the Alberta Health Care Insurance Plan (AHCIP) (P.8) "<sup>113</sup> The AHCIP registration form collects information such as country or province of origin and date of arrival when people register for health care coverage under the AHCIP.<sup>114</sup>

#### **3.7 Data Cleaning and Creation of the Analytical Sets**

The data were extracted by AH personnel as four separate files (Imm/ARI) registry, the Alberta Blue Cross database and the Fee-for –Service Administrative Claims Database (Supplemental Enhanced Service Event System-SESE), and the Alberta Immigrant Registry for the 2010-2011 influenza vaccination season. The researcher was provided with aggregated anonymized data that contained all the data variables required for the study. Once the files were received, the raw data were checked for duplicate entries or any other inconsistencies. The 45 persons (approximately 0.01%) for whom data were missing on sex (missing or unknown), or age (coded as invalid values) were excluded from the file. One person (approximately 0.4%) for whom data was missing on sex (unknown) was excluded from the AEFI file.

After data cleaning, four analytical databases emerged: the flu file, the second dose file, the AEFI file and the immigrant file.The flu file was the largest and was constructed from the Imm/ARI database, SESE database, the Alberta Blue Cross database, and the Immigrant Registry.The flu file had the following variables: the age at immunization (calculated as the difference between date of birth and the date of immunization), sex, the type of vaccination provider, which is an indicator variable to identify whether the vaccination was provided by the AHS public health nurse, by a physician, or a pharmacist; an indicator variable for the area of residence (urban versus rural), an indicator variable for immigrant status (immigrants vs. non-immigrants), and the aggregate counts of vaccination data. Table 3.1 summarizes the analytical datasets, data sources and variables.

# 3.8 Data File Organization

The Flu file contained aggregate counts of vaccination data by age, sex, and indicator variables for the area of residence, the type of vaccination provider, and the place of birth. It contained the influenza vaccination data for all persons 6 months and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season. Influenza vaccination data from the Imm/ARI database, the SESE database, the Alberta Immigrant Registry, and the Alberta Blue Cross database were merged to generate the flu file. The PHN was used as the key linking variable and the linkages can be considered to be deterministic (Figure 3.1).

Analytical	Source Database	Variables in the analytical databases
Dataset		
Flu file	Imm/ARI Database	1) Age at immunization (in years)
	• Supplemental	2) Sex
	Enhanced Service Event	3) Indicator variable for area of residence
	System (SESE)	(rural vs. urban)
	• Alberta Blue Cross	4) Indicator variable for immigrant status
	Database	(immigrants vs. non-immigrants)
		5) Indicator variable for vaccination
		provider (AHS public health, physicians
		& pharmacists)
		6) Aggregate count of number of
		vaccinations given during influenza
		vaccination period (October 1, 2010 to
		April 30, 2011)

# Table 3.1 Databases used for analysis by source of data§

Table 3.1 Databases used for analysis by source of data, continued			
Analytical	Source Database	Variables in the analytical databases	
Dataset			
Second	• Imm/ARI Database	1) Age at immunization (in months)	
dose file		2) Sex	
		3) Indicator variable for area of residence	
		(rural vs. urban)	
		4) Indicator variable for immigrant	
		status (immigrants vs. non-immigrants)	
		5) Aggregate count of number of vaccinations	
		given during influenza vaccination period	
		(October 1, 2010 to April 30, 2011)	

Table 3.1 Databases used for analysis by source of data, continued			
Analytical	Source Database	Variables in the analytical databases	
Dataset			
AEFI file	• Imm/ARI	1) Age at immunization (in years)	
	Database	2) Sex	
		3) Indicator variable for area of residence	
		(rural vs. urban)	
		4) Indicator variable for immigrant status	
		(immigrants vs. non-immigrants)	
		5) AEFI severity (serious AEFI vs. non-	
		serious AEFI)	
		6) Aggregate count of number of vaccinations	
		given during influenza vaccination period	
		(October 1, 2010 to April 30, 2011)	
Immigrant	• Alberta Immigrant	1) Age at immigration (in years)	
file	Registry	2) Sex	
		3) Indicator variable for area of residence	
		(rural vs. urban)	
		4)Year of immigration	
		5) Aggregate count of number of immigrants	
		in 2010	

\$The researcher was provided with aggregated data; dataset contained only aggregated data whereas the source databases contained individual record data.

The second dose file comprised aggregate counts of vaccination by age, sex, and indicator variables for the area of residence, and the place of birth. This file contained the records of influenza vaccination of children < 49 months of age who received two doses of influenza vaccine in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination. There were no data on second dose for children aged 5-8 in the dataset. The data for children < nine years of age for which there was only a record of a single dose being given are in the flu file.

The AEFI file contained aggregate counts of adverse events data among those vaccinated against influenza by age, sex, and the indicator variables for severity of adverse events, the area of residence, and the immigrant status.

The immigrant file is comprised of aggregate counts of immigrants by attributes of age at immigration, sex, year of immigration, and indicator variable for area of residence.

## 3.9 Urban/ Rural Indicators Comparisons

The AHCIP Central Stakeholder Registry includes information on postal codes which can be used as a proxy for the area of residence. Geographical areas such as urban or rural residence were assigned by the AH personnel based on the person's postal code current at the time of data extraction in September 2012. Rural postal codes can be distinguished from urban postal codes by the character "0" (zero) in the second position.<sup>115-116</sup>

#### 3.10 Influenza Vaccination Coverage Rates for One versus Two Doses

Influenza vaccine doses were counted as 1 dose (i.e. only one dose of vaccine was administered) and 2 doses (i.e. only two doses were administered). The variables 'one

dose' and 'two doses' influenza vaccination were used to describe the influenza vaccination coverage of children under 9 years of age. This study did not link to influenza vaccination data of prior years to see if children had received a dose in prior year.

## 3.11 Adverse events following influenza vaccination

In Alberta, the reporting system is passive and paper-based. AEFI data are reported on a form (Report of Adverse Reaction to Immunizing Agents) <sup>117</sup> and submitted to the AH's Surveillance and Assessment Branch Immunization Program.

AHS submits AEFI reports electronically except for the Edmonton zone, which sends the paper form. All AEFI reports are reviewed at AH prior to data entry; AEFI reports are validated when entered into Imm/ARI.The current form is being revised and a new form will be implemented (Personal Communication, Kim Simmonds, Manager, Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Surveillance and Assessment Branch Family and Population Health Division Alberta Health, July 5, 2013). The AEFI reports contain information on vaccines and the dates they were administered.

AH adopts PHAC's definition of AEFI for reporting purposes. According to PHAC, "An AEFI is any untoward medical occurrence in a vaccine which follows immunization and which does not necessarily have a causal relationship with the administration of the vaccine."<sup>118</sup> "A causal relationship between immunization and the event that follows does not need to be proven and submitting a report does not imply or establish causality"<sup>118</sup> It is also important for the reported event to have a temporal association with the vaccine and it cannot be clearly attributed to other causes.<sup>118</sup>

The AEFI data provided were pre-coded as serious versus not-serious events by AH personnel.The serious events were coded by an immunization nurse in consultation with the chief medical officer of health. However, the duration and onset of AEFI were not taken into consideration in grading AEFI's seriousness and there is no coding manual available at this present time (Personal Communication, Kim Simmonds, Manager, Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Surveillance and Assessment Branch Family and Population Health Division Alberta Health, July 5, 2013).

There are text fields in the reporting form (patient record, immunization record, adverse events record and adverse event detail record) which are coded by AH personnel. The text fields are all recoded in numeric values except comments; for example, the adverse event might be fever, but in the database it will be coded as 01 and there is a code table to look up the numeric values.<sup>119</sup>

AH uses the medical diagnoses listed on the AEFI reports to classify AEFI outcomes as 'serious' and 'non-serious' events. For influenza, serious AEFI outcomes are encephalopathy, meningitis, paralysis, Guillain-Barré Syndrome (GBS), subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE), adenopathy, and anaphylaxis (Personal Communication, Kim Simmonds, Manager, Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Surveillance and Assessment Branch Family and Population Health Division Alberta Health, September 21, 2012).

# **3.12 Operational Definitions**

For the purposes of this study:

• The 2010-2011 vaccination season was defined as the period from October 1, 2010 to May 15, 2011 in which publicly funded influenza vaccination was administered in Alberta.

• Vaccinated was defined as an entry/ a record of influenza vaccination event in any of the three databases :Imm/ARI registry, the Alberta Blue Cross database and the Fee-for –Service Administrative Claims Database (Supplemental Enhanced Service Event System-SESE) between October 1,2010 and April 30,2011 inclusive.

• Urban/rural was defined based on the residential mailing postal code in the AHCIP registry file. If the postal code had the character "0" (zero) in the second position, a person was classified as a rural resident; otherwise, as an urban resident.

• Immigrant vs.non-immigrant: If on the AHCIP registry a person was born outside Canada, the person was classified as an immigrant; otherwise as a non-immigrant if Canadian-born.

• Provider type was defined as persons or agencies who directly administered the vaccine such as public health, community physicians, and pharmacists.

# 3.13 Inclusion Criteria

# 3.13.1 Objective1: Estimating influenza vaccination coverage

People were included if they:

1) were 6 months of age or older.

49

2) were eligible for publicly funded influenza vaccinations given in the province of Alberta during influenza vaccination period (October 1, 2010 to April 30, 2011) as demonstrated by them having a PHN in the AHCIP stakeholder registry.

3.13.2 Objective 2: Describing the occurrence of adverse events related to influenza vaccination

People were included if they:

1) were 6 months of age or older.

2) The person has actually received an influenza vaccination during influenza vaccination period (October 1, 2010 to April 30, 2011) as demonstrated by them having a record of vaccination event in any of the three databases (Imm/ARI) registry, the Alberta Blue Cross database and the Fee-for –Service Administrative Claims Database (Supplemental Enhanced Service Event System-SESE).

# 3.14 Exclusion Criteria

#### 3.14.1 Objective1: Estimating influenza vaccination coverage

Children vaccinated against influenza under six months of age were counted as having received a non-effective dose and were removed from all analyses. Influenza vaccines that were administered after April 30, 2011 were considered outside of the study's defined influenza vaccination season and did not count in the estimations of vaccination coverage. Consequently, persons (including children) who received their first or only dose of vaccine after April 30, 2011were excluded from the estimations of vaccination coverage. 3.14.2 Objective 2: Describing the occurrence of adverse events related to influenza vaccination

The same exclusion criteria for objective 1 apply to objective 2.

## **3.15 Data Analysis**

The researcher classified each person who received influenza vaccine or incurred an adverse event following vaccination with the influenza vaccine into age groups. There were 15 mutually exclusive categories that were useful for describing counts and rates for coverage (objective # 1).Because of the paucity of adverse events, the age groups were collapsed into 6 mutually exclusive categories for objective # 2.

## 3.15.1 Objective1: Estimating influenza vaccination coverage

For this objective, two separate analyses were made. First, counts and the proportions of persons vaccinated (i.e. who received at least one dose of vaccine and children < 9 years) were estimated by attributes of age, age group, sex, urban and rural residence, immigrant and non-immigrant, and in relation to vaccine provider type (AHS public health, physicians & pharmacists). Second, coverage for each sex and for age specific groups, and by attributes of urban and rural residence, immigrant and non-immigrant, were estimated at rural residence, immigrant and non-immigrant.

Influenza vaccination coverage rates were determined by estimating the number of individuals who received the vaccine as a proportion of the total number of individuals eligible to receive the influenza vaccine (all Albertans aged 6 months and older). For example, the overall influenza vaccination coverage rate (all age-groups combined) for Alberta was calculated using the formula:

• Number of individuals who received one dose of influenza vaccine / 2010 midyear population estimate for Alberta.

Coverage rates for specific age groups were estimated as follows:

• Number of individuals who received the vaccine in a particular age group (e.g. children 6-23 months) / Number of individuals in that age group (e.g. children 6-23 months).

Similarly, coverage rate for each sex and for specific age groups was determined separately for males and females, rural and urban residents, immigrants and nonimmigrants, and in relation to vaccine provider type.

The proportion of persons who received one, two or one or more doses was estimated in four separate analyses:

1) First, the influenza vaccination coverage (point estimates and its 95% confidence interval) was estimated for the general population (i.e. an overall estimate for Alberta) and

2) Second, by attributes of age, sex, geographical indicators (urban or rural), immigrants versus non-immigrants, provider type for the 2010-2011 vaccination season. Numerator counts for specific rates (i.e. age and sex specific rates, and age-specific rates by geographical indicators (urban or rural), and immigrants versus non-immigrants) were

52

taken from the aggregate counts of vaccinations that represent the three numerator data sources in the flu file.

3) Third, the proportion of children who received one and two doses of influenza vaccine was estimated. Age –sex specific counts of children who received one and two doses of influenza vaccine from the flu file and second file were used as numerators.

4) Finally, patterns in the coverage by different age groups, sex, type of residence (rural versus urban), and immigrants versus non-immigrants and provider type were analyzed.

In sensitivity analyses, the coverage rates were repeated after excluding the residents of the long-term care (LTC) facilities and healthcare workers (HCW) who had been vaccinated.<sup>20</sup>

3.15.2 Objective 2: Describing the occurrence of adverse events related to influenza vaccination

For this objective, two separate analyses were made. In the first analysis, counts and proportion of persons who incurred one or more adverse events following influenza vaccination were presented by attributes of age, sex, geographical indicators (urban or rural), and immigrants versus non-immigrants. In the second analysis, age-specific rates were estimated.

Rates of adverse events were determined by estimating the number of individuals who incurred one or more adverse events following influenza vaccination as a proportion of the total number of individuals 6 months or older who received one dose of influenza vaccine. For example, the overall rate of adverse event for Alberta was calculated using the formula:

• Number of individuals who incurred one or more adverse events following influenza vaccination / Number of individuals 6 months or older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine.

Rates of adverse events for specific age groups were estimated as follows:

• Number of individuals who incurred one or more adverse events following influenza vaccination in a particular age group (e.g. children aged 6-23 months) / Number of individuals 6 months or older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in that age group (e.g. children 6-23 months).

Similarly, rates of adverse events for each sex and for specific age groups were determined separately for males and females, rural and urban residents, immigrants and non-immigrants, etc. Rates were expressed as events per 100,000 persons vaccinated.

The proportion of persons who incurred one or more adverse events following influenza vaccination was estimated in three separate analyses:

1) First, the proportion of individuals (point estimate and its 95% confidence interval) who incurred one or more adverse events following influenza vaccination in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season was estimated.

2) Second, the proportions of individuals who incurred one or more adverse events following influenza vaccination by specific age groups, sex, type of residence (rural

54

versus urban), and immigrants versus non-immigrants (point estimates and their 95% confidence intervals) was estimated; and

3) Third, patterns in the adverse events following influenza vaccination by different age groups, sex, type of residence (rural versus urban), and immigrants versus nonimmigrants were analyzed.

### **3.16 Statistical Analysis**

All data manipulations and analyses were done using STATA intercooled 11.0 statistical software.<sup>120</sup> 95% CIs were calculated for coverage rates and for rates of adverse events. 95% CIs around a point estimate were used to determine a statistically significant difference between two age groups. If the intervals do not overlap, it can be concluded that the point estimates are different and the two age- groups are statistically different. If the intervals do overlap, we cannot conclude anything because either the point estimates could be different or the point estimates could be similar.

Chi-square tests were used to determine the statistical significance of the difference between two proportions. In exploratory analyses, influenza vaccination coverage for the receipt of one dose was compared to the receipt of two doses among children aged < 49 months with respect to age group, gender, and immigrant vs. non-immigrant. All exploratory analyses were carried out at alpha=0.05 for descriptive purposes. Data were presented as frequencies, proportions, rates and mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD).

# 3.17 Denominators for Estimating Vaccination Coverage

For all analyses, denominators were counts of persons of the corresponding age group who were eligible for an influenza vaccine. Ideally, the data source for the denominator should have the potential to represent the population eligible for influenza vaccine in Alberta. This will take into consideration that influenza vaccine was not administered to children less than 6 months of age.

Denominator data for influenza vaccination coverage rates were retrieved from AH's Interactive Health Data Application (IHDA) population estimates which was based on mid-year population estimates (June 30, 2010) from the AHCIP Central Stakeholder Registry.<sup>121</sup> The AHCIP registry was deemed the most appropriate denominator source for age-, sex-, and geography-specific influenza vaccination coverage in Alberta for the following reasons: completeness (captures over 99% of Alberta's residents), data are updated regularly, quality assurance is in place to account for migration of people into and out of the province, and all registrants' dates of birth are recorded.

In the AHCIP data, all children aged zero to one year were included. For this study, the population counts for children aged less than one year was divided into half to represent the population of children aged six months to less than one year.

#### 3.18 Numerator and Denominator Data Sources for Adverse Events

For this study, Imm/ARI was the only database that contained the adverse events (AE) records. The numerator was a count of all persons 6 months or older vaccinated as recorded in the AEFI file that experienced adverse events (AE) following influenza immunization for the 2010/2011 vaccination season.
The Imm/ARI database, the SESE database and the Alberta Blue Cross database were used as the denominator data for describing the occurrence of adverse events. The denominator was a count of all influenza vaccine doses administered to persons 6 months or older as recorded in the aggregate counts of vaccination in flu file for the 2010/2011 vaccination season. The numerator for research question #1 was the denominator for research question #2.

#### **3.19** Potential Data Sources for Denominators for Immigrants and Non-immigrants

As there was no single ideal source for denominator data for non-immigrants and immigrants, several potential denominator data sources were identified for generating vaccination coverage. They were: the Alberta immigrant registry (1983-2011)<sup>113</sup>, 2006 Census-20% Sample Data (Alberta)<sup>122</sup> and Citizenship and Immigration Canada (CIC): Alberta-permanent residents by country of citizenship<sup>123</sup>. In order to determine the denominator for immigrants, the number of immigrants in 2010 was estimated by adding up the number of immigrants in the immigrant registry from 1984-2008 and the number of immigrants in the CIC data: Alberta-permanent resident by country of citizenship data from 2009-2010.<sup>123</sup> The two data sets were mutually exclusive and the number of immigrants was estimated by adding up within the data sets.

The number of non-immigrants was estimated by subtracting the number of immigrants from 2010 mid-year population estimate for Alberta. This decision was made after a critical appraisal of several data sources (Table 3.2). The Alberta immigrant registry was selected as the best choice for the purpose of this thesis because it contains

the current and most relevant data for the study period (2010) and was also used to identify the denominator counts.

#### **3.20 Ethical Considerations**

Ethical review and approval was sought through the Conjoint Health Research Ethics Board (CHREB). Ethical approval was given on March 16, 2012. This study complied with the use of the health information as outlined in the Health Information Act (HIA) Guidelines and Practices Manual.<sup>124</sup>

Specifically, the analytic dataset represented a minimum dataset and contained only those variables that the researcher needed to analyze his research questions. The minimum amount of information that might be potentially be identifying was extracted. A minimal dataset was considered both ethical and efficient. Respect for persons was assured by extracting a minimum amount of information, linking data and removing identifiers.

Only the AH employees, who were data custodians under the HIA were authorized to be aware of the identifying information such as PHN and names, accessed the information. The data files that were released to the researcher have had the PHN stripped and were anonymized aggregate data. In this way, the researcher cannot track unique individuals within the dataset. There were no individual level benefits to study participants but there is social benefit.

# Table 3.2 Assessment of Data Sources for Denominators for Immigrants & Non-Immigrants

Data	AH Immigrant	2006 Census-20% Sample	Citizenship and
Source	Registry	Data (Alberta)	Immigration Canada
			(CIC): Alberta-
			permanent resident by
			country of citizenship
Advantages	• Current &	• Complete data for	• Current &
	most relevant data	immigrants and non-	most relevant data for
	for the study period	immigrants	the study period
	(2010)	• Data stratified by	(2010)
	• No data on	sex, age groups,	• No data on
	non-immigrants	immigration status & place	non-immigrants
	• Data	of birth	• Complete data
	stratified by age at	• Data includes all	for permanent
	immigration, sex &	categories of immigrants	residents for a
	year of immigration		particular year by
	• Data are		country of citizenship
	validated		

# Table 3.2 Assessment of Data Sources for Denominators for Immigrants & Non-Immigrants, continued

Data	AH Immigrant	2006 Census-20% Sample	Citizenship and
Source	Registry	Data (Alberta)	Immigration Canada
			(CIC): Alberta-
			permanent resident by
			country of citizenship
Limitations	• Incomplete	• Data not current for	• Data not
	data: data since 1983	the study period (2010)	stratified by age at
	but complete since	• Will need	immigration, sex &
	2004	population projections for	year of immigration
	• Data for	denominators	• Incomplete
	immigrants for a	corresponding to inter-	data for immigrants,
	particular year, not	censal years	likely excludes non-
	for the total number	• Data may not	permanent (i.e.
	of immigrants	account for current reality	temporary) residents
		due to population shifts	
		since 2006 census, i.e.	
		emigration, deaths, etc.	

Table 3.2 Assessment of Data Sources for Denominators for Immigrants & Non-				
Immigrants	, continued			
Data	AH Immigrant	2006 Census-20% Sample	Citizenship and Immigration	
Source	Registry	Data (Alberta)	Canada (CIC): Alberta-	
			permanent resident by	
			country of citizenship	
Feasibility	• Valid	• Valid source for	• Valid source for	
	source for	both immigrants and non-	immigrants	
	immigrants	immigrants	• Should not as a sole	
	• Should	• Should not as a sole	source because of the	
	not as a sole	source because of the	limitations above	
	source because	limitations above		
	of the			
	limitations			
	above			

#### **Chapter Four: Results**

#### **4.1 Introduction**

Study results are presented in this chapter according to the objectives. The objectives are as follows:

(1) To estimate influenza vaccination coverage in Alberta by attributes of age, sex, geographical indicators (urban or rural), immigrants versus non-immigrants, and provider type for the 2010-2011 vaccination season; and

(2) To describe the occurrence of adverse events related to influenza vaccination in Alberta by attributes of age, sex, geographical indicators (urban or rural), and immigrants versus non-immigrants for the 2010-2011 vaccination season.

#### 4.1.1 Descriptive and Bivariate Analyses

The descriptive analyses included tabulation of frequency distributions of the baseline characteristics of persons in terms of age, age groups, sex, place of residence, immigrants versus non-immigrants and provider type. For the 2010-2011 influenza season, estimates for coverage and adverse events are determined for the general population (i.e. an overall estimate for Alberta). The proportions of individuals vaccinated by age groups, sex, type of residence (rural versus urban), and immigrants versus non-immigrants (point estimates and their 95% confidence intervals) are presented. Coverage estimates were also determined for children who received one and two doses of influenza vaccine.

Among those vaccinated against influenza for the 2010-2011 vaccination season, the proportions of individuals who incurred one or more AE following influenza vaccination by age- groups, sex, type of residence (rural versus urban), and immigrants versus non-immigrants (point estimates and their 95% confidence intervals) were also estimated. Finally, patterns in the coverage and adverse events by age groups, sex, type of residence (rural versus urban), and immigrants versus non-immigrants were analyzed.

#### 4.2 Objective1: Estimating influenza vaccination coverage

Findings for this objective will be presented in two sections. In the first section, the numbers of persons vaccinated are presented by attributes of age, sex, geographical indicators (urban or rural), immigrants versus non-immigrants, and provider type. The second section focuses on coverage.

The 45 persons (approximately 0.01%) for whom data were missing on sex (missing or unknown), or age (coded as invalid values) were excluded from all analyses. Data for the 640,268 individuals, who received one dose of vaccine in 2010-2011 influenza season and for whom there was no missing data for sex, age, place of residence, immigrants and non-immigrants, and vaccination provider, were analyzed.

#### 4.2.1 Description of study population

Table 4.1 shows the distribution of demographic characteristics of individuals in the study sample. The final study population sample comprised 640, 268 individuals who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season. Of those vaccinated, the majority of individuals vaccinated were female (56%),

Table 4.1 Demographic characteristics of individuals 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine, Alberta, 2010-2011 vaccination season

N= 640,268
49.9 (27.7)
50
< 1, 109
43.9%
56.1%
84.9%
15.1%
87.0%
13.0%
81.4%
11.8%
6.8%

\*SD Standard Deviation

The median age was 50 years (range: < 1-109 years) and 85% resided in urban areas.Non-immigrants and immigrants made up 87% and 13% of the study population respectively.

#### 4.2.2 Frequency distribution of vaccinations

The number of persons who received at least one dose of vaccine varied greatly by age, age group, sex, urban and rural residence and in relation to vaccine provider type. As shown in Figures 4.1 and 4. 2, the number of persons vaccinated and the proportions vaccinated varied by age and age- groups respectively.

Figure 4.1 Number of persons 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta, 2010-2011 vaccination season, by age in years



It is clear that there are peaks in the 0.5-<2 and 65+ age- groups. Among those vaccinated, children aged 6-23 months and children < 9 years accounted for 6.4% and 15.4% respectively. The highest and lowest proportions of vaccinations were administered

to those in the 65 years and older (29%) and the 20-24 (2.4%) age groups. In general, more females (56%) than males (44%) were vaccinated. Similar proportions of male and female children aged 6-23 months or 10-14 years were vaccinated. However, for all age groups older than 10-14 years, more females than males were vaccinated (Figure 4.3).

Across all age categories, more urban residents than rural residents were vaccinated. The 65 years and older age group accounted for the highest proportion of vaccinations in both urban and rural areas (Figure 4.4).





Figure 4.3 Number of persons 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta, 2010-2011 vaccination season, by sex and age

group



As shown in Figure 4.5, more non-immigrants than immigrants were vaccinated among all age groups, particularly among children aged 4 years or less.

Figure 4.4 Number of persons 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta, 2010-2011 vaccination season, by rural and urban residence and age group



Figure 4.5 Number of persons 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta, 2010-2011 vaccination season, by non-immigrants and immigrants and age group



Figure 4.6 depicts the pattern of health services utilization for influenza vaccination. The majority of vaccinations were administered by public health nurses across all age groups. Overall, 81.4% of the influenza vaccinations were administered by AHS public health in contrast to 11.8% and 6.8% administered by physicians and pharmacists respectively (Table 4.1).

Figure 4.6 Number of persons 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta, 2010-2011 vaccination season, by provider type and age group



4.2.3 Influenza vaccine coverage for the overall population (all age groups combined)

For the 2010-2011 vaccination season in Alberta, the overall influenza vaccination coverage among individuals who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine was estimated to be 17.2%. Table 4.2 depicts the vaccine coverage rates by demographic characteristics.

Females had a higher coverage rate than males. Vaccine coverage rates were higher in urban than in rural areas. Rates were also higher for non-immigrants than immigrants. Of the three vaccine providers, influenza vaccination administered by the public health nurses had the highest coverage, followed by physician vaccinations and vaccinations administered by the pharmacists in that order.

Table 4.2 Influenza vaccination coverage (percent) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals among persons 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta, by sex, rural and urban residence, and non-immigrants vs. immigrants, 2010-2011 influenza season

Variable	Population	Total vaccinated	% (95% CI)
Overall coverage	3,716,520*	640,268	17.2 (17.1-17.3)
(all age groups			
combined)			
Sex			
Male	1,848,843	281,042	15.2 (15.1-15.3)
Female	1,842,002	359,226	19.5 (19.4-19.6)
Residence			
Urban	2,995,515	543,456	18.1(18.0-18.2)
Rural	721,005	96,812	13.4 (13.3-13.5)

Table 4.2 Influenza vaccination coverage (percent) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals among persons 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta, by sex, rural and urban residence, and non-immigrants vs. immigrants, 2010-2011 influenza season, continued

Variable	Population	Total vaccinated	% (95% CI)
Non-immigrants			
and Immigrants			
Non-immigrants	3,514,010	556,834	17.6 (17.6-17.7)
Immigrants	562,510	83,434	14.8 (14.7-14.9)
Vaccination			
provider			
AHS public health	3,690,845 <sup>§</sup>	521,425	14.1 (14.0-14.2)
Physicians	3,690,845 <sup>§</sup>	75,626	2.0 (2.0-2.1)
Pharmacists	3,690,845 <sup>§</sup>	43,217	1.1 (1.1-1.2)

\* Alberta 2010 mid-year population § population eligible for vaccination excluding children < 6 months

In the sensitivity analyses using the total population eligible for influenza vaccine in Alberta as the denominator, when the counts of persons vaccinated from the LTC facilities were excluded, the estimated coverage rate decreased slightly from 17.2 to 16.8% (95% CI: 16.8-16.9). However, when the analysis was done excluding the counts of HCW vaccinated, the estimated coverage rate decreased significantly from 17.2 to 15.1% (95% CI: 15.1-15.2). In the sensitivity analyses, when the population eligible for influenza vaccine in LTC facilities was excluded from the total population, there was a slight decrease in the estimated coverage-from 17.2 to 16.9% (95% CI:16.9-17.0).

However, when the analysis was repeated excluding the population eligible for influenza vaccine in HCW from the total population, the estimated coverage rate decreased significantly from 17.2 to 16.1% (95% CI: 16.0-16.1).

*4.2.3.1 Age- specific influenza vaccination coverage* 

Figure 4.7 shows the influenza vaccination coverage rate by age and it is clear that there are peaks in the 6-23 months and 65 years and older age group; the rate was highest in <1 year olds (69.3%) and lowest in the 20 year olds (5.4%).

Figure 4.7 Influenza vaccination coverage (percent) among individuals 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta, 2010-2011 influenza season, by age in years



Age-specific coverage estimates for one dose vaccination are presented in Figure 4.8. Children between the ages of 6 months and 23 months had the highest coverage rates (approximately 53%), while persons 65 years and older had the second highest rates (46%). The lowest rate (approximately 6%) was seen in individuals between the ages of

20 and 24 years of age. Confidence intervals for age-specific estimates did not overlap in all age groups.

#### 4.2.3.2 Age- specific influenza vaccination coverage by sex

Age-specific estimates are presented by sex in Table 4.3. Similar coverage rates were attained by male and female children aged 6-23 months or 10-14 years. However, for all age groups older than 10-14 years, females attained higher coverage rates than males. Confidence intervals for sex-specific coverage estimates did not overlap in all age groups older than 10-14 years.

Figure 4.8 Influenza vaccination coverage (percent) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals among individuals 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta, 2010-2011 influenza season, by age group



Table 4.3 Influenza vaccination coverage (percent) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals among persons 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta, 2010-2011 influenza season, by sex and age group

Age group (years)	Male (95% CI)	Female (95% CI)
0.5 -< 2	52.6 (52.1-53.1)	52.6 (52.1-53.2)
2 - 4	18.6 (18.3-18.8)	18.7 (18.3-18.9)
5 – 9	13.2 (13.0-13.4)	13.5 (13.3-13.8)
10-14	9.8 (9.6-9.9)	9.9 (9.8-10.2)
15-19	6.1 (5.9-6.3)	7.8 (7.6-7.9)
20-24	3.7 (3.6-3.8)	7.7 (7.6-7.9)
25-29	5.1 (4.9-5.2)	10.9 (7.8-11.1)
30-34	7.4 (7.3-7.6)	14.5 (14.3-14.7)
35-39	9.1 (8.9-9.3)	14.8 (14.6-15.0)
40-44	9.4 (7.9-9.3)	13.5 (13.3-13.7)
45-49	10.3 (10.2-10.5)	14.7 (14.5-14.9)
50-54	13.3 (13.1-13.4)	18.5 (18.3-18.7)
55-59	19.0 (18.8-19.2)	25.1 (24.8-25.3)
60-64	27.1 (26.8-27.4)	33.4 (33.1-33.7)
65+	45.4 (45.2-45.6)	46.8 (46.7-47.0)

#### 4.2.3.3 Influenza vaccination coverage by rural and urban residence and age

Coverage estimates for urban and rural residents are presented by age groups in Table 4.4. Across all age groups, coverage rates were higher for urban residents than rural residents. Among urban residents, children between the ages of 6 months and 23 months had the highest coverage rates (46.2%), while persons 65 years and older had the second highest rate (38%). The lowest rates for urban residents were seen in individuals between the ages of 20 and 24 years of age (5%).

In contrast, among rural residents, persons 65 years and older had the highest rate (8.2%), while children between the ages of 6 months and 23 months had the second highest rates (6.5%). The lowest coverage rates of 0.7% and 0.9% (<1%) were found in rural residents among 20 and 24 and 25-29 age groups respectively. Overall, urban residents (14.7%) attained higher coverage rate than rural residents (2.6%). Confidence intervals for rural and urban residents' estimates did not overlap in all age groups.

Table 4.4 Influenza vaccination coverage (percent) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals among persons 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta, 2010-2011 influenza season, by rural and urban residence and age group

Age group (years)	Rural (95% CI)	Urban (95% CI)
0.5 -< 2	6.5 (6.3-6.7)	46.2 (45.8-46.5)
2-4	2.5 (2.4-2.6)	16.1 (15.9-16.3)
5 – 9	2.0 (1.2-2.1)	11.3 (11.2-11.5)
10-14	1.5 (1.4-1.6)	8.3 (8.2-8.4)
15-19	1.0 (1.0-1.1)	5.9 (5.8-6.0)
20-24	0.7 (0.6-0.7)	5.0 (4.9-5.1)
25-29	0.9 (0.9-1.0)	7.1 (6.9-7.2)
30-34	1.2 (1.1-1.3)	9.7 (9.6-9.8)
35-39	1.3 (1.3-1.4)	10.5 (10.4-10.6)
40-44	1.4 (1.3-1.4)	10.0 (9.9-10.1)
45-49	1.7 (1.6-1.8)	10.8 (10.7-10.9)
50-54	2.3 (2.3-2.4)	13.5 (13.3-13.6)
55-59	3.5 (3.4-3.6)	18.4 (18.3-18.6)
60-64	5.2 (5.1-5.4)	25.0 (24.8-25.2)
65+	8.2 (8.1-8.3)	38.0 (37.8-38.1)

#### 4.2.3. 4 Influenza vaccination coverage by age for immigrants and non-immigrants

Influenza vaccination coverage estimates for non-immigrants and immigrants are presented by age groups in Table 4.5. It can be seen that non-immigrants had higher coverage rates than immigrants among all age groups. Among non-immigrants, children between the ages of 6 and 23 months had the highest coverage rate (52%), while persons 65 years and older had the second highest rate (43.3%). Non-immigrants between the ages of 20 and 24 years achieved the lowest coverage rate (4.3%) In contrast, among immigrants, the rates were very low. It is surprising that the lowest coverage rates of 0.6% and 2.8% were attained by immigrants among children aged 6-23 months and 65 years and older age groups respectively.

Overall, non-immigrants had (15.1%) attained higher coverage rate than immigrants (2.2%). Confidence intervals for coverage estimates for non-immigrants and immigrants did not overlap in all age groups.

#### 4.2.3. 5 Influenza vaccination coverage by provider type and age

Influenza vaccination coverage estimates for provider types are presented by age groups in Figure 4.9. Of the three providers, vaccinations administered by public health nurses had the highest coverage rates across all age groups, while physician vaccinations had the second highest rates.

Vaccinations administered by pharmacists had the lowest rates. As the majority of children between the ages of 6 months and 23 months were vaccinated by public health nurses, this age group had the highest coverage rate (52.3%).

A small proportion of this age group was vaccinated by physicians (0.3%), while persons 65 years and older had the second highest rate (36%) for vaccinations administered by public health nurses.

In contrast, vaccinations administered by physicians and pharmacists had lower coverage rates. For example, the coverage rates attained by vaccinations administered by physicians and pharmacists in the 65 and older age category were approximately 7% and 3.1% respectively.Furthermore, children between the ages of 6 months and 23 months had the lowest coverage rate (0.3%) for vaccinations administered by physicians. Overall, coverage rates by providers were as follows: public health nurses (14.1%), physicians (2%) and pharmacists (1.2%).

Table 4.5 Influenza vaccination coverage (percent) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals among persons 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta, 2010-2011 influenza season, by non-immigrants and immigrants and age group

Age group (years)	Non-immigrants (95% CI)	Immigrants (95% CI)
0.5 -< 2	52.0 (51.7-52.4)	0.6 (0.5-0.7)
2 - 4	17.5 (17.3-17.7)	1.1 (1.0-1.2)
5 – 9	11.9 (11.8-12.1)	1.3 (1.3-1.4)
10-14	8.7 (8.6-8.8)	1.1 (1.0-1.2)
15-19	6.1 (6.0-6.2)	0.7 (0.7-0.8)
20-24	4.3 (4.2-4.4)	1.3 (1.3-1.4)
25-29	5.6 (5.5-5.7)	2.3 (2.2-2.4)
30-34	7.7 (7.6-7.8)	3.1 (3.1-3.3)
35-39	8.4 (8.3-8.5)	3.4 (3.3-3.5)
40-44	8.2 (8.1-8.3)	3.2 (3.1-3.3)
45-49	9.6 (9.5-9.8)	2.8 (2.8-2.9)
50-54	13.5 (13.4-13.7)	2.2 (2.2-2.3)
55-59	19.6 (19.5-19.8)	2.3 (2.2-2.4)
60-64	27.6 (27.4-27.9)	2.6 (2.5-2.7)
65+	43.3 (44.2-44.5)	2.8 (2.7-2.9)

Figure 4.9 Influenza vaccination coverage (percent) among persons 6 months of age and older who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine in Alberta, 2010-2011 influenza season, by provider type and age group



4.2.4 Estimating the proportion of children who received one and two doses

For the 2010-2011 season, the proportion of children who received one and two doses was calculated in two separate analyses. The numerator for each analysis was the count of children who received one and two doses of vaccine. The denominator of each analysis was the total number of vaccinated children recorded in the databases for the 2010-2011 season.

Age-sex specific counts of children vaccinated with one and two doses of influenza vaccine from the ImmaRI, the physicians' claims' database and the Alberta Blue Cross Registry were used for the numerators. Denominators were counts of all children of the corresponding age group who were eligible for an influenza vaccine. Denominators were estimated using mid-year population estimates from the Central Stakeholder Registry. All children aged one year were included as were half of the population counts for children aged less than one year to represent the population of children aged six months to less than one year.

Estimates of influenza vaccination coverage for two doses are presented by sex, rural or urban area of residence, and in relation to being non-immigrants or immigrants.

#### 4.2.4.1Description of study population

Table 4.6 shows the distribution of demographic characteristics of children in the study sample. As there were no data on second dose (i.e. zero second doses for children aged 5-8) in the dataset , the final study population comprised 16,634 children < 49 months of age who received two doses of influenza vaccine in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination.

The majority of children vaccinated were male (52%), 27 months of age (range: 6-48 months) and all resided in urban areas. Children between the ages of 6 months and 23 months made up 78.6% of the population. Non-immigrants and immigrants comprised 97.5% and 2.5% of the study population respectively.

#### 4.2.4.2 Estimating influenza vaccination coverage with two doses

The number of children aged < 49 months of age who received two doses of influenza vaccine varied greatly by age, age group, sex and in relation to being non-immigrant and immigrant. Figure 4.10 shows that the number of children vaccinated varies by age and it is clear that there are peaks in the 7-9 and 12-14 month age groups.

## Table 4.6 Demographic characteristics of children < 49 months;</td> who received two

doses of influenza vaccine, Albert	ta, 2010-2011 vaccination s	season
------------------------------------	-----------------------------	--------

Characteristics	N= 16,634
Age at vaccination (months)	
Mean (SD)	27.1 (12.4)
Median	27
Range	6 ,48
Age group (months)	
6-23	78.6%
12-48	21.4%
Sex	
Male	51.7%
Female	48.3%
Residence	
Urban	100.0%
Rural	0.0% §
Non-immigrants and immigrants	
Non-immigrants	97.5%
Immigrants	2.5%

† There were no data on second dose (i.e. zero second doses for children aged 5-8) in the dataset.
\*SD Standard Deviation § Zero second doses were administered to all rural residents according to the dataset.

Figure 4.10 Frequency distribution of children < 49 months of age who received two doses of influenza vaccine, Alberta, 2010-2011 vaccination season by age in months



For the 2010-2011 vaccination season in Alberta, the overall influenza vaccination coverage among children aged< 49 months who received two doses of influenza vaccine was estimated to be 4.1%. Table 4.7 depicts the vaccine coverage rates by demographic characteristics.Coverage rates were similar in both sexes (males: 4.1% & females: 4.0%).Because there were zero second doses in rural residents, the rate remains the same as the overall rate. Rates were also higher for non-immigrants than immigrants.

4.2.4.3 Comparison of influenza vaccination coverage among children < 49 months by number of doses

Table 4.8 shows the distribution of demographic characteristics in the study groups. The total number of children who received one dose and two doses of influenza vaccine were 93,497 and 16,634 respectively. Overall, both groups had similar

proportions of males (51.7% in the two dose vaccination group and 51.2% in the one dose vaccination group (p=0.173).

Table 4.7 Influenza vaccination coverage (percent) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals among children < 49 months who received two doses of influenza vaccine in Alberta, 2010-2011 vaccination season , by sex, rural and urban residence, and non-immigrants vs. immigrants

Characteristics	% (95%CI)
Overall coverage	4.1 (4.0-4.2)
o forum co foruge	(10 12)
g	
Sex	
Male	4.1 (4.0-4.2)
Female	4.0 (3.9-4.1)
Posidoneo	
Kesiuence	
Urban	4.1 (4.0-4.2)
	<b>XX 11</b>
Kural	Unable to calculate <sup>°</sup>
Non-immigrants and immigrants	
0 0	
Non-immigrants	3.9 (3.9-4.1)
Immigrants	0 1(0 09 0 11)
minigrants	0.1(0.09-0.11)

§ Zero second doses were administered to all rural residents according to the dataset

## Table 4.8 Demographic characteristics of children < 49 months who received one

### versus two doses, Alberta, 2010-2011 vaccination season

Characteristics	Two doses	One dose
Number of children	16,634	93,497
Total children N=110,131		
Age group (years)		
0.5 - < 2	78.6%	43.6%
2-4	21.4%	29.6%
5 - 8	0.0%§	26.8%
Sex		
Male	51.7%	51.2%
Female	48.3%	48.8%
Residence		
Urban	100.0%	86.6%
Rural	0.0%*	13.4%
Non-immigrants and		
Immigrants		
Non-immigrants	97.5%	94.9%
Immigrants	2.5%	5.1%

§There were no data on second dose (i.e. zero second doses for children aged 5-8) in the dataset. \* Zero second doses were administered to all rural residents according to the dataset

The two groups differed significantly in the frequency distribution of children in the 6-23 month age group and in non-immigrants and immigrants. Children vaccinated with one dose had statistically significantly smaller proportion of children between the ages of 6-23 months than children vaccinated with two doses did (one- dose coverage 43.6% versus two-dose coverage 78.6%, p<0.0001). In addition, children vaccinated with two doses had statistically significant smaller proportion of children identified as immigrants compared to children vaccinated with one dose did (two-dose coverage 2.5% versus one-dose coverage 5.1%, p<0.0001).

The influenza vaccination coverage estimates for the receipt of one and two doses are presented in Table 4.9. The coverage rate for two doses was 4.1%, while the rate for one dose was 23%. The coverage rate for the receipt of one or more doses of influenza vaccine among children < 49 months was 27.1%. Of the 93,497 children aged < 9 years who received the first dose of influenza, only 16,634 received the second dose. The first dose compliance rate was 17.8%.

4.2.4.4 Comparison of influenza vaccination coverage among children < 49 months by sex

Sex-specific estimates for children vaccinated with one and two doses are presented Table 4.9 Confidence intervals for sex-specific estimates overlapped in both sexes. 4.2.4.5 Comparison of influenza vaccination coverage among children < 49 months by age

Age-specific estimates for children vaccinated with one and two doses are presented in Table 4.10. Confidence intervals for age-specific estimates did not overlap in all age groups.

Table 4.9 Influenza vaccination coverage (percent) and corresponding 95%confidence intervals among children < 49 months in Alberta, 2010-2011 vaccination</td>season, by the number of doses received and sex

Number of doses of influenza	Influenza vaccination coverage % (95%CI)
vaccine and sex	
Two doses	4.1 (4.0-4.2)
Male	4.1(4.0-4.2)
Female	4.0 (3.9-4.1)
One dose	23.0 (22.9-23.1)
Male	23.0 (22.8-23.1)
Female	23.0 (22.8-23.1)
One or more $(\geq 1)$ doses	27.1 (26.9-27.2)

Table 4.10 Influenza vaccination coverage (percent) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals among children < 49 months in Alberta, 2010-2011 vaccination season, by the number of doses received and age group

Age group (years)	Two doses (95% CI)	One dose (95% CI)
0.5 - < 2	16.9 (16.7-17.1)	52.6 (52.3-53.0)
2-4	2.4 (2.3-2.5)	18.6 (18.4-18.8)
5 - 8	Unable to calculate <sup>§</sup>	13.9 (13.7-14.0)

\$There were no data on second dose (i.e. zero second doses for children aged 5-8) in the dataset.

# 4.3 Objective 2: Describing the occurrence of adverse events related to influenza vaccination

Findings for this objective will be presented in two sections. In the first section, the counts and proportions of AEFI are presented by attributes of age, sex, geographical indicators (urban or rural), and non-immigrants versus immigrants and severity of adverse events after influenza vaccination. The second section focuses on rates of adverse events.

One person (approximately 0.4%) for whom data was missing on sex (unknown) was excluded from all analyses. Data for the 272 individuals, who incurred one or more adverse events following influenza vaccination in 2010-2011 influenza season and for whom there was no missing data for sex, age, place of residence, and country of birth, was analyzed.

#### 4.3.1 Description of study population

Table 4.11 shows the distribution of demographic characteristics of the individuals in the study sample. The final study population is comprised of 272 individuals who incurred one or more adverse events following influenza vaccination in Alberta. The majority of individuals were female (74%), median age 43 years (range: < 1-84 years) and 84% resided in urban areas. Non-immigrants and immigrants made up 88% and 12% of the study population respectively.

#### 4.3.2 Frequency distribution of adverse events by age group and sex

Figures 4.11 and 4.12 depict the frequency distribution of adverse events in terms of numbers and proportions by age and age groups respectively. In Figure 4.11, it is clear that there are peaks in the age groups 0.5-<5 years and 28-65 years representing the age groups that incurred the highest number of reports of adverse events. The proportions of AE reports in the age groups <1 year, 1-<2 years, 2-<7 years, 7- < 18 years, 18- <65 years and 65+ years were 2.9%, 11.0%,14.0%, 3.7%, 57.7% and 10.7%, respectively (Figure 4.12).

The highest number of AE reports was observed in persons in the 18-<65 age group, the age group that received the highest number of influenza vaccines (323,315 vaccinations). The lowest number was among infants aged less than 1 year, the age group that received the lowest number of influenza vaccines (17729 vaccinations).

Of 272 reported AE, 74% occurred in females. Overall, predominance among the number of women reporting AE was observed. AE reporting also varied by sex and age group. Among persons older than 17 years (18- 65+ years), a predominance among

women reporting AE was observed, while in all of the children age groups, a predominance among males reporting was observed (Figure 4.13).

Overall, a predominance among urban residents reporting AE was observed but the difference in sex was not statistically significant (p=0.643) (Figure 4.14). Among the non-immigrants, AE reporting was observed in all of the age groups, while persons in the 2-<7, 7- < 18 and 18- <65 age groups reported AE among the immigrants. The difference in sex was not statistically significant (p=0.126) (Figure 4.15).

Figure 4.16 shows the number and severity of AE reports by age group. While reporting of AE that were defined as 'not serious' was observed in all of the age groups, AE defined as 'serious' were only reported in persons in the 2-<7, 7- < 18 and 18- <65 age groups. There was no statistically significant difference in sex by severity of AE reports after influenza vaccination (p=0.560).

Table 4.11 Demographic characteristics of individuals 6 months of age and olderwho incurred one or more adverse events following vaccination against influenza,Alberta, 2010-2011 vaccination season

Characteristics	N= 272
Age (years)	
Mean (SD)	40.3 (22.9)
Median	43
Range	< 1 , 84
Sex	
Male	26.1%
Female	73.9%
Residence	
Urban	84.2%
Rural	15.8%
Non-immigrants and immigrants	
Non-immigrants	87.9%
Immigrants	12.1%
AEFI severity	
Serious	4.4%
Not serious	95.6%
1	

\*SD Standard Deviation

Figure 4.11 Frequency distribution of adverse events reported among those 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season by age in years



Figure 4.12 Proportions of influenza vaccinations and adverse events among those 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season, by age group


Figure 4.13 Proportions of adverse events among those 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season, by sex and age group



Figure 4.14 Proportions of adverse events among those 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season, by urban and rural residence and age group



Figure 4.15 Proportions of adverse events among those 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season, by non-immigrants and immigrants and age group



Figure 4.16 Number and severity of adverse events among those 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season, by age group



4.3.3 Estimating the rates of adverse events for influenza vaccination

Among 640,260 persons who received at least one dose of influenza vaccine, a total of 272 reports were received for the 2010-2011 vaccination season related to the influenza vaccine. This gives an overall AE rate of 42.3 per 100,000 persons for Alberta. Table 4.12 depicts the variation in AE reporting by demographic characteristics.

# Table 4.12 Rates of adverse events (per 100,000 persons vaccinated) and

corresponding 95% confidence intervals among persons 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza for 2010-2011 vaccination season, by sex, rural and urban residence, non-immigrants and immigrants and severity of adverse events

Variable	Adverse	Vaccinations N	Rate per 100,000
	events N		persons vaccinated
			(95% CI)
Overall rate (all age	272	640,268	42.3 (37.7-47.8)
groups combined)			
Sev			
JCA .			
Male	71	281,042	25.3 (20.0-31.8)
Female	201	359,226	56.0 (48.7-64.2)
Residence			
Urban	229	543,456	42.1(37.0-47.9)
Rural	43	96,812	44.4 (32.9-59.8)

Table 4.12 Rates of adverse events (per 100,000 persons vaccinated) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals among persons 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza for 2010-2011 vaccination season, by sex, rural and urban residence, non-immigrants and immigrants and severity of adverse events, continued

Variable	Adverse events N	Vaccinations N	Rate per 100,000		
			persons vaccinated		
			(95% CI)		
Non-immigrants					
and Immigrants					
Non-immigrants	239	556,834	42.9 (37.8-48.7)		
Male	66	246,085	26.8 (21.1-34.1)		
Female	173	310,749	55.7 (47.9-64.6)		
Immigrants	33	83,434	39.6 (28.1-55.5)		
Male	5	34,957	14.3 (6.1-33.4)		
Female	28	48,477	57.8 (35.9-45.8)		
Severity of					
adverse events for					
influenza					
Serious	12	640,268	1.8 (1.1-3.3)		
Not serious	260	640,268	40.6 (35.9-45.8)		

Females had a higher AE rate than males.AE rates were higher in rural than in urban areas but the difference was not statistically significant. Rates were also higher for non-immigrants than for immigrants but the difference was not statistically significant. In addition, the rate for AE that were defined as 'non-serious' was higher than that for AE defined as 'serious'.

# 4.3.3.1 Age- specific rates of adverse events

Figure 4.17 shows the rate for adverse events by age and it is clear that there are peaks in the ages 1-6 and 18-65 corresponding to the age groups that received the highest number of reports of adverse events. By age group, the highest rate (93.1 per 100,000 persons vaccinated) was among the youngest age group (children 6-23 months), while the lowest rate was among the oldest age group, those aged 65 years and older (15.7 per 100,000 persons vaccinated).

Figure 4.17 Rates of adverse events (per 100,000 persons vaccinated) among those 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season, by age in years



By age group, children < 9 years had a rate of 84.4 per 100,000 persons vaccinated. Age–specific estimates for adverse events are presented in Figure 4.18. Confidence intervals for age-specific estimates overlapped in all of age groups so that the difference in rates by age group was not statistically significant. Figure 4.19 depicts the relationship between the number of adverse events and rate by age.

Figure 4.18 Rates of adverse events (per 100,000 persons vaccinated) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals among those 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season, by age group



It can be seen from Figures 4.11 and 4.12 that children aged 6-23 months (age groups <1 and 1- <2) reported the largest number of adverse events even though they received the smallest number of vaccinations. However, when rates per 100,000 persons

vaccinated were considered, although the rate peaked first among children aged 6-23 months, it then declined among older children (Figures 4.17, 4.18, and 4.19).

Figure 4.19 Number and Rates of adverse events (per 100,000 population) among those 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season, by age group



4.3.3.2 Age- specific rates of adverse events by sex

The distribution of rates of adverse events by sex and age groups shows that in the adult age groups, predominance in female rate was observed, but the difference in male rate was highest among children (Figure 4.20).

Overall, females (55.9 per 100,000 persons vaccinated) had a higher rate than males (25.3 per 100,000 persons vaccinated). The rates for females varied from 25.5 (65 years and older) to 116.4 (1-<2 years old) per 100,000 persons vaccinated.

In contrast, the rates for males varied from 3.6 (65 years and older) to 142.9 (1-<2 years old) per 100,000 persons vaccinated. Confidence intervals for age-specific estimates overlapped in the adult age groups (18-65 years & 65 years and older) showing no statistically significant difference in rates by sex.

Figure 4.20 Rates of adverse event (per 100,000 persons vaccinated) among those 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season, by sex and age groups



4.3.3.3 Age- specific rates of adverse events by location of residence

Estimates for rates of adverse events incurred by urban and rural residents are presented by age group in Figure 4.21. Although overall rural residents had a slightly higher rate than urban residents, the patterns in rates are different among the age groups. By age group, higher rates were observed among rural residents in the older age groups than their urban counterparts of the same age.

In contrast, higher rates were observed among urban residents in the younger age groups than their rural counterparts of the same age. Confidence intervals for age-specific estimates overlapped in all of age groups so that the difference in rates by age group was not statistically significant.

Figure 4.21 Rates of adverse events (per 100,000 persons vaccinated) among those 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season, by urban and rural residence and age groups



4.3.3.4 Age-specific rates of adverse events by non-immigrants and immigrants

Rates for adverse events incurred by non-immigrants and immigrants are presented by age groups in Figure 4.22.

Overall, non-immigrants had a slightly higher reporting rate than the immigrants. There were no reports of adverse events for immigrants in the youngest age group and oldest age groups so that rates for these groups could not be estimated. In general, rates for non-immigrants decreased as the age group increased. Confidence intervals for agespecific estimates overlapped in all of age groups so that the difference in rates by age group was not statistically significant.

Figure 4.22 Rates of adverse events (per 100,000 persons vaccinated) among those 6 months of age and older vaccinated against influenza in Alberta for the 2010-2011 vaccination season, by non-immigrants and immigrants and age group



# 4.3.3.5 Rates of adverse events by severity

The 272 AEFI reports described 12 (4.4%) serious reports and 260 (95.6%) nonserious reports (Table 4.13). There were no reports of serious adverse events for immigrants in all of the children age groups so that the rates for these groups could not be estimated. Reports of serious adverse events were observed predominantly among the adult age groups (83.3%). The proportions of reports of non-serious adverse events varied from 3.1% (<1 & 7-<18 age groups) to 56.9% (65 years and older).

The highest proportions of both serious (75%) and non-serious (56.9%) AE were observed among the oldest age group (65+), the age group that received the highest number of influenza vaccines (323,315 vaccination counts). There was no statistically significant difference in severity by sex (p=0.560).

# Table 4.13 Description of adverse events following vaccination with the influenzavaccine by severity, 2010/2011 season, Alberta

Characteristic	Serious reports		Non-serious reports		Total
	Ν	%	Ν	%	
Total number	12	4.4	260	95.6	272
Age group (years)					
<1*	0	0	8	3.1	8
1 - < 2*	0	0	30	11.5	30
2 - < 7*	0	0	38	14.6	38
7 - < 18	2	16.7	8	3.1	10
18 - 65	9	75.0	148	56.9	157
65+	1	8.3	28	10.8	29
Sex					
Male	4	33.3	67	26.0	71
Female	8	66.7	193	74.0	201
Rate/ 100,000					
persons vaccinated		1.9	40.6		

\* There were missing values for adverse events in these age groups

## **Chapter Five: Discussion**

## **5.1. Introduction**

This present study was unique in its analysis of the AH's largest population-based dataset for influenza vaccination to provide province-wide estimates of vaccination coverage and adverse event of influenza vaccination. The current study examined the pattern of influenza coverage and adverse events rates in the 2010-2011 vaccination season by sex, age groups, geographical indicators (rural versus urban), immigrant versus non-immigrant, provider type (coverage rates only) and provides explanations and hypotheses for the variability in rates.

In this chapter, findings will be contextualized, the strengths and limitations of the research will be discussed, and recommendations made for practice and for research.

# 5.2 Contextualization of Study Findings

This section contextualizes the study findings in the Alberta context and in relation to prior research beginning with the first objective and then focuses on the second objective of the study.

## 5.2.1 Objective1: Estimating influenza vaccination coverage

Using secondary analysis of administrative data from Alberta's publicly funded and administered health-care system, two measures of influenza vaccination coverage were estimated among people 6 months of age and older during the 2010-2011 influenza season. The key findings were as follows:

1) Influenza vaccination coverage rates varied by age, sex, place of residence, vaccination provider and in relation to being immigrant and non-immigrant; and

2) The coverage estimates for the overall population (for all age groups combined) (17.2%) and across all age groups were low (range 5.7-52.6%).

Prior AHS reports did not give any overall coverage estimate for the receipt of one dose of influenza vaccine. The overall estimate obtained for influenza vaccination coverage in this study is consistent with 14-27% influenza vaccine coverage in the general Canadian population.<sup>15,63</sup>

There are limited data to assess vaccination coverage in Canada and for the most part estimations of seasonal vaccination coverage are primarily available from CCHS which assesses immunization status for seasonal influenza vaccination only for people aged 12 years or older.<sup>14</sup> Previous studies using the CCHS data and other studies suggest that influenza vaccination coverage rates are low in Canada. <sup>14,15,63,67,79</sup> There are two limitations of the CCHS data which make comparisons with this study challenging due to differences in methodology. First CCHS does not include data from those under the age of 12 years, and secondly, CCHS is survey data based upon respondent self-reports.

When the findings for this study for the age groups 6-23 months and 65 years and older were compared with those for the AHS reports, the coverage rates for both age groups were lower than the target (75%). This study, for the same period of time, showed coverage rate for children aged 6-23 months to be 53% while the AHS reports showed it

to be 27%.<sup>20</sup> Among people 65 years and older , for the same period of time, this study showed coverage rate to be 46% % while the AHS reports showed it to be 59%.<sup>20</sup>

The differences in the coverage estimates between this study and AHS reports <sup>20</sup> may be attributable to the differences in the methods used to estimate the numerator for coverage. While this study defines the numerator as the receipt of 1 dose of influenza vaccine for all age groups, the AHS report defines the numerator as "% Immunized' represent the 1-dose immunization rate (need only one dose of vaccine to be complete)" for the age group 65 years and older and '% Complete' represent the 'dose 2 of 2 + Annual' immunization rate (need two doses or one annual dose to be complete) for the age group 6-23 months. "<sup>20</sup> The latter could be translated into receipt of 1 or more doses which would mean fewer vaccination counts than receipt of one dose, resulting in lower coverage for children aged children 6-23 months in the AHS report. This indicator of coverage for receipt of one or more doses of influenza has also been referred to in the literature as the combined rate.<sup>67</sup>The lack of consistencies in the definitions of reporting and methodology make comparison within and across age groups very challenging, as others have previously suggested.<sup>67</sup>

However, caution should be used to compare results because of changes in the methodology used to estimate coverage for this age group for the 2010-2011 and results for prior years.<sup>23</sup> The 2010-2011 annual report states that "rates for children aged 6 - 23 months in 2009/2010 and 2010/2011 are calculated as "dose 2 of 2 + Annual."<sup>23</sup> Prior to 2009/2010 this rate was calculated as "Doses 1 of 1 + Annual.<sup>23</sup>

The low two-dose influenza vaccination coverage among children under 9 years for which two influenza vaccine doses were recommended according to the NACI statement for the 2010-2011 vaccination season<sup>47</sup>may be attributed to two reasons. First, there were no data on second dose (i.e. zero second doses for children aged 5-8) in the dataset. Second, this study did not link to the influenza vaccination data of prior years for each individual child to see if children had received a dose in the prior year. Thus such children, which would really have received the equivalent of 2 doses (met the NACI criterion)<sup>47</sup>would be misclassified as not being 'adequately' vaccinated (i.e. have not received 2 doses).These factors may have contributed to the low vaccination rate for the receipt of two doses observed here.

This study was not able to estimate the vaccination coverage for the receipt of a second dose of influenza vaccine for all rural residents < 9 years as zero second doses were administered according to the dataset. The urban data for the receipt of the second dose were available for children aged under 49 months. Possible reasons for zero second doses in rural children include the following: 1) the finding may be true in which case that raises the possibility that all the rural children got a dose in prior year. This could lead to misclassification of some children as earlier explained; 2) the finding may be true because rural children did not receive a dose in the prior year and also did not receive the 2 doses they should therefore have received in the current year; and 3) the finding may not be true in which case vaccination records might not have been made or data were not entered or coded wrongly. This results in bias.

Previous studies have shown that provider immunization delivery practices, parent, and systems-based factors (e.g. missed opportunities for influenza vaccination)<sup>73,78,79,82,98</sup> are key determinants of vaccination levels, which may contribute to the incomplete and delayed influenza vaccination.<sup>80</sup> Unlike the routine immunization which is administered all year round, the administration of influenza vaccine is influenced by several challenges that may contribute to low coverage rates. These include delivering two doses of vaccines to all previously unvaccinated children within a short period of time<sup>30,81-83</sup>, the need to vaccinate each year,<sup>75</sup> limited awareness of the magnitude of influenza burden in young children<sup>82,98</sup> and the need for two doses in all previously unvaccinated children.<sup>80</sup>

One study of timeliness and vaccination coverage among children under nine years requiring 2 doses in a season reported that most children who required two doses failed to receive both doses; and receipt of the second dose was often delayed among children who received both doses.<sup>80</sup> This finding is consistent with other studies which identified that the majority of children who received their first dose did not complete the 2-dose series.<sup>78,125</sup>

The present study showed that among children aged under nine years, the proportion of first-vaccinated children who received a second vaccination was 18% in the 2010-2011 season. I propose that there are three reasons for this under -vaccination. First, because of the closeness of the study season to the pandemic HIN1 season, parents might have incorrectly interpreted the study year's dose to be the second dose and the H1N1 dose to the first dose. Second, parents may just have had enough of the influenza

vaccination campaigns that they did not bother to bring their children for the second vaccination hoping that one dose will provide protection for the season. Third, children were misclassified because they got a dose in the prior year. To some extent, this under-vaccination may be a reflection of the NACI's implementation of 2 dose-series among children under 9 years of age. This finding is particularly concerning since studies have shown that receipt of two doses offered better protection against influenza than receipt of one dose. <sup>29,30,68,69</sup>

# 5.2.1.1 Variations in coverage rates by age

Children under the age of two years (6 months to 23 months of age) had the highest influenza vaccination coverage rate for receipt of at least one dose (52.7%) and two doses (16.9%) of influenza vaccine respectively, while people aged 65 years and older had the second highest coverage rate (46.2%) for receipt of at least one dose of influenza vaccine.

I propose that there are two reasons for this finding. First, this is not a surprise finding since these age groups have been two of the three priority groups (the third being residents of long term care facilities) targeted for Alberta's publicly funded influenza vaccination program <sup>20,21,38, 126</sup> (see methods section 2.3.2.1for details) and second, because children under the age of two years have frequent contact and access to health services for childhood routine immunization.

Moran *et al.*  $(2009)^{67}$  estimated much higher influenza coverage for receipt of at least one dose of influenza vaccine (52.2%) in Alberta among children aged 6-23 months

than for Ontario (24%). This was similar to the coverage rate (52.7%) that was attained among children aged 6-23 months for the 2010-2011 influenza season.For the 2010-2011influenza season, Nova Scotia<sup>127</sup> attained a much higher coverage rate for receipt of at least one dose of influenza vaccine (72.7%) among children aged 6-23 months than did Alberta (52.7%). Is Alberta's coverage rate of 52.7% statistically different from the Nova Scotia's of 72.7%? Are the differences real? Could the variation in coverage rates be caused by differences in measurement methods?

I propose that much of the difference was caused by differences in measurement methods. One source of the difference was the fact that different denominators were used to estimate coverage rates. The Alberta 52.7% figure was based on 2010 mid-year population from AHCIP Central Stakeholder Registry <sup>121</sup>, whereas the Nova Scotia 72.7% figure was based on a single year of age projection data from 2006 census data for children 6-23 months.<sup>127</sup> Alberta and Nova Scotia also used different databases and data collection methods for the number of vaccine doses administered. These methodological differences can produce a profound difference in coverage rates.<sup>76</sup>

Comparisons across studies are challenging due to a lack of standardization in data collection methodology, reporting definitions <sup>67</sup> and changes in the methodology used to calculate the coverage rate.<sup>23</sup> For example, the AH report states that "caution should be used in comparing the Alberta 2010-2011 and 2011-2012 result for children aged 6-23 months with the results from prior years due to changes in the methodology used to calculate coverage among children aged 6-23 months who have received the recommended seasonal influenza vaccination."<sup>38</sup> For example, the present study found

that 16.9% of children aged 6-23 months had received two doses of influenza vaccine, compared to 27.2% stated in the surveillance report for the 2010-2011 influenza season.<sup>20</sup> The latter estimate represents the receipt of 'dose 2 of 2 plus Annual' immunization rate (need two doses or one annual dose to complete). The correct estimate for the AHS report would have been 14.2% coverage rate for receipt of two doses of influenza vaccine among children aged 6-23 months during this study period.<sup>20</sup> This compares to the 16.9% coverage rate estimate for this study. In order to meet the timelines for reporting, results for persons aged 65 years and older and children aged 6 to 23 months were submitted to AH and current as of March 31, 2011, which was earlier than the end of the seasonal influenza immunization season.<sup>20</sup>

The present study used all the data available to April 30, 2011 so that the missing data in the report could have slightly underestimated the coverage rate. Alberta attained a much higher coverage rate for receipt of two doses of influenza vaccine among children aged 6-23 months than did Ontario (<10%) during 2002-2009.<sup>79</sup> Santibanez *et al.*  $(2006)^{30}$  using the data from the 2003 and 2004 National Immunization Survey in the United States reported coverage rates for receipt of two doses of influenza vaccine to be 4.4% and 8.4% for the 2002-2003 and 2003-2004 respectively.

Zimmerman *et al.* (2007)<sup>76</sup> using the immunization information system (IIS) in Arizona and Michigan in the United States estimated coverage rates for receipt of two doses of influenza vaccine during the 2004-2005 influenza season. Among children aged 6-23 months, coverage rates were 13% and 11% in Arizona IIS and Michigan IIS respectively. Apart from the changes in the methodology used to calculate coverage among children aged 6-23 months, the coverage estimate for children aged 6-23 months in this study is consistent with that obtained from the AHS report. The vaccination of these young children poses a unique challenge to vaccination providers in terms of logistics of delivering two doses within a short period of time, scheduled at least 4 weeks apart. 30,67,68

Coverage rates for receipt of at least one dose of influenza vaccine initially decreased as the age group increased, especially among children < 9 years and then increased from the age group 25-29 onwards. This pattern was consistent between sexes and across all of the age groups for the observed variations in coverage rates by place of residence, and in relation to being immigrant and non- immigrant and vaccination providers.I propose there are two reasons for this pattern. First, parents might be motivated to vaccinate younger children as vaccine becomes free of charge in addition to the recommendation by physicians or public health nurses in the context of routine visits for childhood immunization, and second because the public health messaging for influenza vaccination places a strong emphasis on vaccinating children, especially those < two years, parents may think that vaccinating older children is not a priority.<sup>126</sup>

The use of simple messages might not only facilitate the acceptance of the message, but also might reflect the recommendations for the older children and the benefits of vaccinating them. It will also provide effective communication to target audiences and create a sense of urgency. Among children aged 6-23 months who had received two doses of influenza vaccine, coverage rates decreased consistently with

113

increased age in all years. This is no surprise as children are likely to have less frequent health services utilization with increasing age.

## 5.2.1.2 Variations in coverage rates by sex

Coverage rates for receipt of at least one dose of influenza vaccine varied also by sex. There was no observed sex difference in coverage rates until the 15-19 age group. From this age group onwards, females had significantly higher coverage rates than males in all of the age groups except the oldest age group when coverage rates were again similar for both sexes.

This pattern is consistent with studies that reported significantly higher coverage rates in women than men in the age group 20-64 and among persons aged 50 and older.<sup>61,108</sup> The explanation for this pattern is a matter of speculation, but I propose that the sex differences in vaccination coverage may be attributed to lower health care utilization in men than women. Men were more likely to have had more opportunities to be reminded to be vaccinated or to actually receive the vaccine.

## 5.2.1.3 Rural-Urban variations in coverage rates

Statistically significant differences in influenza vaccination coverage were found between urban and the rural areas. Among all of the age groups, urban residents had significantly higher influenza vaccination coverage than rural residents. Differences in coverage rates range from a low of 4.3% among the age group 20-24 to a high 39.7% among children aged 6-23 months. Among the urban residents, children aged 6 months and older had the highest influenza vaccination coverage rates for receipt of at least one dose.

In contrast, people aged 65 years and older had the highest coverage rate among rural residents. The second highest coverage rate among rural residents was observed among children aged 6-23 months. These meaningful differences suggest disparities in vaccination coverage between rural and urban area. Disparity is defined as differences in vaccination coverage rates that follow a social gradient.<sup>128</sup> For example, disparity exists when "each stepwise increase in education level, or total income corresponded to an incremental rise in influenza vaccination prevalence."<sup>128</sup>

I propose that there are two reasons for these findings. First, people living in rural areas may differ from those in urban in terms of race/ethnicity, poverty level, education, vaccination provider, and access to health care and health services utilization, health status and other sociodemographic characteristics.<sup>100,101</sup> Second, there may also be systematic differences in access involving financial access (indirect costs), scheduling of vaccination appointments (temporal access), and transportation/ geographic location<sup>100,101</sup>

Health system factors such as limited access to public health influenza vaccination clinics or to other influenza vaccination providers (physicians, pharmacists) in rural compared to urban Alberta might be important.

# 5.2.1.4 Variations in coverage rates by immigrants versus non-immigrants

Statistically significant differences in the influenza vaccination coverage were found between non-immigrants and immigrants. This study showed that non-immigrants attained significantly higher coverage rates than did the immigrants across all of the age groups.

Among non-immigrants, children aged 6 months and older had the highest influenza vaccination coverage rates for receipt of at least one dose, while people aged 35-39 years had the highest coverage rate among immigrants. These meaningful differences suggest disparities in vaccination coverage between immigrants and nonimmigrants.

Guttmann et al. (2008)<sup>27</sup> found that immigrant children (69%) were significantly more likely than non-immigrant children to be up-to-date (UTD) for routine childhood vaccinations at two years in Ontario. The authors noted that the origin was predictive of UTD status with Asian immigrants more likely to be UTD than those from Latin and Central America) and concluded that immigrant mothers were accessing immunizations for their children at least as effectively non-immigrant mothers.

One study using the CCHS survey data reported that immigrants attained a significantly higher coverage rate for the receipt of one dose of influenza vaccine among persons aged 12 or older than did non-immigrants.<sup>15</sup>The coverage estimates obtained from CHSS survey data may not be comparable to those from this study for two reasons. First, vaccinations from young children and residents of the long-term health care facilities were excluded, thus underestimating coverage.Second, CCHS data were based on self-reports, which may be prone to respondent bias.Self-reported influenza vaccination rates have been shown to have a high sensitivity (98%) and a low specificity

(38%), indicating that the actual rates may be lower than those reported by CCHS data.<sup>16-</sup>

The study of influenza vaccination coverage by Quach *et al.* (2012) relates to ethnicity/ race rather than immigration and comparison of findings with this study may be difficult.<sup>107</sup> An important methodological issue is the difference in constructs that are measured by race/ethnicity and immigrants/non-immigrants.This may impact on the interpretations of the coverage estimates.

The reasons for lower coverage rates among immigrants in the present study are not clear. Other studies of influenza vaccination coverage in Canada have produced contradictory findings, whereby immigrants were more likely to have received the influenza vaccine. <sup>15,103,104</sup> I propose that there are three reasons for this finding. First, access to health care may play a role as immigrants may encounter greater linguistic barriers<sup>129</sup> or have lower health care comprehension and fewer contacts with health services<sup>105, 130,131</sup>; second, immigrants may not receive sufficient information about vaccine <sup>105,128,131</sup>; and third lower motivation to get vaccinated, fears of getting influenza from the vaccine.<sup>128</sup>

# 5.2.1.5 Variations in coverage rates by vaccine providers

This study shows that there were differences in vaccine administration and coverage rates between the AHS public health provider and the community providers (physicians, pharmacists, and other providers). Of the three provider categories, AHS public health had the highest coverage rate overall and for all of the age groups. For physician administered influenza vaccinations, the highest coverage rate was among people aged 65 years and older, while the lowest coverage rate was among children 6 months and older.

The estimated coverage with influenza vaccine was over 10 percentage points lower with community providers than with AHS public health. This difference in coverage rates between AHS public health and community providers may be attributable to the variation in health service utilization for influenza and to the public health messaging that encourages parents to vaccinate their children, especially those aged < 9years by the AHS public health.<sup>126</sup>

Physicians mostly see sicker older people which may account for why the present research found that the highest coverage rate for physician administered influenza vaccinations was among people aged 65 years and older.

5.2.2 Objective 2: Describing the occurrence of adverse events related to influenza vaccination

Adverse events event rates were estimated among people 6 months or older who incurred one or more adverse events following influenza vaccination in 2010-2011 influenza season, by age groups, sex, geographical indicators (rural versus urban), seriousness of adverse events and in relation to being immigrant versus non-immigrant.

The key findings were as follows:

1. Adverse events rates for influenza vaccine varied by age, sex, place of residence, seriousness of adverse events and in relation to being immigrant versus non-immigrant.

2. Children aged 6-23 months reported the largest number of adverse events even though they received the smallest number of vaccinations.

3. However, when rates per 100,000 persons vaccinated were considered, although the rate peaked first among children aged 6-23 months, it then declined among older children. The adverse event rates for influenza vaccine were compared with those reported by AH's 2010/2011 summary report.<sup>22</sup> This study estimated rate of 42 per 100,000 persons vaccinated was close that of the report (45events per 100,000 doses).Rates were based on slightly different counts of events and vaccinations.As this study used all the data available to April 30, 2011, this could have meant more vaccination counts resulting in a lower rate estimate than reported.

#### 5.2.2.1 Variations in adverse event rates by age

Children under the age of two years (6 months to 23 months of age) had the highest AE rate, while children 2-<7 years old had the second highest rate following receipt of at least one dose of influenza vaccine. The lowest rate was among the oldest age group, those aged 65 years and older. The highest number of AE reports was observed in persons in the 18-<65 age group, the age group that received the highest number of influenza vaccines (323,315 vaccinations). This finding is consistent with the literature which reports that an increase in reported events may be due to an increase in the number of vaccine doses administered.<sup>132,133</sup>

I propose that there are two reasons for this finding.First, as the number of vaccinations increases, it is likely that the number of adverse events reports increases.

Second, the increase in the number of adverse events reports may likely be due to reporting bias especially in children aged 6-23 months and people 65 years and older in whom the highest number of vaccinations were administered.

5.2.2.2 Variations in adverse event rates by sex, immigrants/non-immigrants and severity of adverse events

There was a predominance among the number of women reporting with higher rates in females than males in age groups 1- <2 and 2- <7 years. The female rates were statistically different from the male rates in the all of the adult age groups. I propose that the following reason for this finding. Women have higher number of vaccinations administered than men in all of the adult age groups and it is likely that this difference may have resulted in reporting bias towards higher rates for women than men. Biased reporting may also explain the predominance of higher rates in males in age groups 1- <2 and 2- <7 years, although males have slightly higher vaccinations administered than females in these age groups.

Non-immigrants had a slightly higher AE rate than the immigrants but the rates decreased as the age group increased. There were no AE reports for immigrants in the youngest and the oldest age groups so that reporting is incomplete. This absence of reports for immigrants in these age groups is concerning as it is difficult to ascertain if this is due to reporting bias or problems with data collection.

Family physicians' awareness of the need to monitor and report vaccineassociated adverse events (VAAE) in Canada is low.<sup>52</sup> In Alberta, children under the age of 9 years are primarily vaccinated by public health nurses, as indeed are the majority of all other persons. However, people with AE may present to family physicians with the AE even in Alberta. Thus family physicians must be able to recognize and report AE even in Alberta.

# **5.3 Study strengths**

One of the major strengths of using administrative data from Alberta's publicly funded and administered healthcare system for this research is the population coverage. Because the AHCIP Central Stakeholder Registry captures over 99% of Alberta's residents, the vaccination coverage rates estimated from this study are generalizable to the whole province of Alberta. Therefore the estimates of influenza vaccination coverage and adverse events reporting are population-based estimates.

The availability of reliable and validated numerator data sources for the number of vaccination counts and the large sample size also generated precise estimates of vaccination coverage and adverse events rates.

Appropriately designed population-based databases can facilitate adverse events research as all immunization and hospitalization events can be examined simultaneously yet ascertained independently. The use of Imm/ARI facilitates the linkage of vaccination and adverse events data as both datasets are located in Imm/ARI. Surveillance data regarding influenza coverage rates as tracked by Imm/ARI may generate essential information in evaluating the public health impact of influenza.

This study used aggregated data to estimate influenza vaccination coverage and to describe adverse events related to influenza vaccination. Aggregate data pertaining to

influenza- related adverse influenza by generating rates for adverse events may provide data to reassure the public about the risk-benefit ratio of influenza vaccine. Aggregate data provide data without individual identifiers and generates a minimal dataset that is considered both ethical and efficient.

## 5.4 Study limitations

### 5.4.1 Completeness of reporting and biases

Data capture for the total number of persons who are vaccinated against influenza in Alberta is not complete. The population of Alberta includes those who are employed and those not employed. People who are employed may or may not show up in Imm/ARI. First Nations persons may also receive health services from the province and Imm/ARI may not capture vaccinations from the First Nationals who received federally funded influenza vaccine. For this reason, coverage estimates might be underestimated.

There is no accessible data source that captures information on influenza vaccine administered in the workplace, and indeed, employers may choose to not use publicly funded influenza vaccination in their occupational health programs.AHS may be able to provide counts of the number of AHS employees who are vaccinated. For people who are vaccinated but are not eligible for public funding, records of their vaccination will be missing from SESE or Alberta Blue Cross.

Thus numerator counts from the ImmaRI Registry, Supplemental Enhanced Service Event System-SESE and the Alberta Blue Cross database are not complete as there may be other potential sources of influenza vaccinations that are missing or incomplete.These missing vaccination events data would underestimate and may lead to biased estimates of influenza vaccination and coverage rates. Coverage data based on administrative data are mainly subject to numerator (number of doses administered) and denominator biases (target population).<sup>74</sup> Bias can occur when the data collection/reporting system excludes part of the population.<sup>134</sup>

Administrative data are also vulnerable to inadvertent recording, calculation and transcription errors.<sup>74</sup> Potential data entry errors in Imm/ARI could be related to reason coding for influenza vaccination which may result in misclassification of reasons and not underestimation of influenza vaccination. Unfortunately, the study design does not allow one to assess such data entry errors as the relevant variables are not required for this study.

This study shows that there were missing values of adverse events for immigrants in all of the children age groups and a predominance of AE among female reporting. This suggests reporting bias. It is difficult to speculate on the outcome of AEFI reporting for people who are vaccinated and not eligible for public funding and for whom AEFI develops. This suggests underreporting of AEFI.

5.4.2 Influenza vaccination coverage estimations (for all age groups combined and particularly for the elderly)

The numerator counts for the residents of LTC facilities may have underestimated the coverage rate reported by AHS <sup>20</sup> for this population group as most but not all LTC facilities vaccination data are captured by Imm/ARI. Because people aged 65years and older may be institutionalized or in home care, Imm/ARI may not have captured all the vaccinations in this age group. This exclusion has a moderate impact (a slight but significant decrease of 0.3%) on the estimated coverage rate in the sensitivity analysis. Because Imm/ARI does not capture vaccination counts of HCW, the exclusion of this population group had a significantly greater impact on the estimated coverage rate (a decrease of 1.1%). Thus the exclusion of the residents of LTC facilities and the HCW may bias the estimated coverage rates for all the age groups and particularly for the elderly.

## 5.4.3 Use of aggregate data

There is also no accessible data source that captures the aggregated vaccination counts for disease that AHS did not administer themselves or for their employees. These aggregated data may not be available for all age groups/risk groups. Such data could be generated from surveys e.g. CCHS data for the disease in which self-reports on health conditions relevant to vaccinations are elicited. The age-sex-specific proportions with one or more health conditions indicative of the need for vaccination can then be estimated.

## 5.4.4 Data availability

The conclusions drawn from this study are constrained by the availability of data for only one influenza season. Therefore secular trends in influenza vaccination coverage and adverse events reporting cannot be explored.

## 5.4.5 Passive reporting system

Imm/ARI is a passive reporting system for adverse events related to publicly funded vaccinations. Some of the limitations of passive surveillance systems in assessment of vaccine adverse events also apply to Imm/ARI. These include significant underreporting of known outcomes, and the nonspecific nature of most adverse event reports.<sup>132</sup>

The true incidence of an AE cannot be determined, but it is possible to estimate a rate of reporting per vaccine from passive reporting.<sup>6</sup>The passive surveillance system using voluntary reporting does not usually distinguish events caused by vaccination from coincidental events.<sup>6</sup>

It may be difficult to establish the temporal relationship between influenza vaccination and adverse events-related health service utilization. Even if a temporal association between adverse events and vaccination is suggested, it may be influenced by  $age^{135}$  and causal relationships between vaccination and the events are by no means indicated.<sup>6</sup>

# 5.4.6 Denominators for immigrants and non-immigrants

As there is no single ideal source for denominator data for non-immigrants and immigrants, several potential denominator data sources were identified for generating vaccination coverage. This introduces potential biases into the study, including inaccurate denominator which may exclude immigrants before 2004, and the data may not account for all categories of immigrants. This may lead to an underestimation of the denominator which may bias coverage towards a higher level than is real.

# **5.5 Recommendations for practice**

1) Official reports from AH continue to present influenza vaccination coverage and adverse event reporting related to influenza vaccination only for priority groups in spite of universal publicly funded program since fall 2009.<sup>20,36</sup> No figures were cited for the overall population rates neither for influenza vaccination coverage nor for adverse events reporting. The universal publicly funded influenza vaccination program implies that the entire target population to which the coverage and adverse events rates applies is the estimated population of Alberta. Therefore, it is recommended that the coverage estimate for the overall population aged 6 months and older, for various subgroups defined by sociodemographic characteristics (for example rural-urban) be provided in reports, in addition to the rates for the risk groups for influenza vaccination.

These population-based indicators will allow for monitoring of trends and progress towards the coverage targets for influenza vaccination over time. Coverage indicators for priority groups are also critical for monitoring progress towards targets for influenza vaccination in high-risk populations.

2) This finding of zero second dose in rural children< 9 years and in urban children in the age group 5-9 years is particularly concerning since the present study cannot ascertain if these children got one dose in a prior year and consequently were adequately protected against influenza. The assessment of adequate protection (i.e. receipt of two doses) requires more than one vaccination season data. This finding deserves further investigation.

3) AHS should develop and pilot test educational programs directed at physicians and other community providers about the need to report, and how to report adverse events related to vaccines.

126

4) It is recommended that error rates in Imm/ARI be checked by comparing vaccination counts with data from SESE or the Alberta Blue Cross to ensure the accuracy of the data.

## 5.6 Recommendations for research

This study showed that the estimated influenza vaccination coverage for the overall population (all age groups combined), for all age groups, for rural population, for immigrant population and by physicians and pharmacists are low. Further studies are recommended to define the population groups at risk of under vaccination and to identify the risk factors for low influenza vaccination coverage. Then the development of interventions to address the risk factors at the appropriate level and to improve coverage rates for all people may follow.

Further studies are also needed to explore the pattern of influenza coverage rates season by sex, age groups, geographical indicators (rural versus urban), immigrants versus non-immigrants born, demographic and their interactions using modelling techniques. These models will adjust for the sociodemographic characteristics and other covariates so that a clear insight of the independent risk factors associated with influenza vaccination outcomes can be gained.

This study also suggests that there is underreporting and reporting bias for adverse events related to influenza vaccination. Future research should be directed at factors that influence reporting and non-reporting of adverse events by Alberta researchers and health professionals in order to identify interventions for improving rates for AEFI.

## References

Stohr, K.Influenza.In: Heymann, DL, editor. Control of Communicable Diseases
 Manual.19<sup>th</sup> ed.Washington: American Public Health Association; 2008.p.281-287.

(2) Influenza [homepage on the Internet]. Public Health Agency of Canada. 2013 Apr
 02 [cited 2013 May 8]. Available at: <u>http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/influenza/index-eng.php</u>

(3) Monto AS.Epidemiology and virology of influenza illness. Based on a presentation by Arnold Monto, MD. Am J Manag Care. 2000 Mar; 6 (5 Suppl): S25564.

(4) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Surveillance for safety after immunization: vaccine adverse event reporting system (VAERS)-United States, 1991-2001. MMWR Surveillance summaries 2003; 52 (SS-1): 1-24.

(5) Brotherton JM, Gold MS. Monitoring vaccine safety: a critical component of every immunisation program. Medical Journal of Australia. 2008; 189: 243-244.

(6) Isaacs D, Lawrence G, Boyd I, Ronaldson K, McEwen J. Reporting of adverse events following immunization in Australia. J. Pediatr. Child Health 2005; 41: 163-166.

(7) Collet J-P, MacDonald N, Cashman N, Pless R, & the Advisory Committee on Causality Assessment. Monitoring signals for vaccine safety: the assessment of individual adverse event reports by an expert advisory committee. Bull WHO 2000; 78: 178-185.

(8) World Health Organization. Immunization surveillance, assessment and monitoring. Immunization Coverage. WHO 2011. Available at:

128
http://www.who.int/immunization\_monitoring/routine/immunization\_coverage/en/index. html Accessed May 8, 2013.

(9) Monto AS. Seasonal influenza and vaccination coverage. Vaccine 2010; 28S;D33-D44.

(10) Bos E, Batson A. Using immunization coverage rates for monitoring health sector performance. Measurement and interpretation issues. World Bank HNP Discussion Papers, 2000.

(11) Measuring Up: Results from the National Immunization Coverage Survey, 2002.Can Commun Dis Rep 2004; 30: 37-50.

(12) Chen R, Hibbs B. Vaccine safety: current and future challenges.Pediatr Ann1998; 27 (7): 445-455.

(13) Wald BJ. Vaccine adverse events in the new millennium: Is there reason for concern? Bull WHO 2000; 78 (2): 205-215.

(14) Influenza immunization, less than one year ago by sex, by province and territory. Statistics Canada 2011. Available at: <u>http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-</u> <u>som/l01/cst01/health102a-eng.htm</u> Accessed May 8, 2013.

(15) Chen Y, Yi Q-L, Wu J, Li F. Chronic disease status, self-perceived health and hospital admissions are important predictors for having a flushot in Canada. Vaccine 2007; 25: 7436-7440.

(16) Ompad DC, Galea S, Vlahov D. Distribution of influenza vaccine to high-risk groups. Epidemiol Rev 2006; 28:54–70.

(17) Ballard JE, Liu J, Uberuagua D, Mustin HD, Sugarman JR. Assessing influenza immunization rates in Medicare managed care plans: a comparison of three methods. Joint Commission J Qual Improve 1997; 23:434-442.

(18) Zimmerman RK, Raymund M, Janosky JE, Nowalk MP, Fine MJ. Sensitivity and specificity of patient self-report of influenza and pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccinations among elderly outpatients in diverse patient care strata. Vaccine 2003; 21:1486–1491.

(19) MacDonald R, Baken L, Nelson A, Nichol KL. Validation of self-report of influenza and pneumococcal vaccination status in elderly outpatients. Am J Prev Med 1999; 16:173–177.

(20) Alberta Health Services. Alberta Respiratory Virus Surveillance Update. June 7th,
2011. Available at: <u>http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/poph/hi-poph-surv-resp-virus-</u>
2011-06-07-report.pdf Accessed May 8, 2013.

(21) Alberta Health Services. Zone Reporting Influenza Immunization Rate 2011. Available at: <u>http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/Publications/ahs-pub-pr-det-influ-immun-children-zone-q4i40m4f.pdf</u> Accessed May 8, 2013.

(22) Government of Alberta. Seasonal Influenza in Alberta 2010/2011 Summary
 Report: October 2011. Available at: <u>http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/Influenza-</u>
 <u>Summary-Report-2011.pdf</u> Accessed May 8, 2013.

(23) Alberta Health and Wellness. 2010-2011 Health and Wellness Annual Report
 2010-2011Available at: <u>http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/Annual-Report-11.pdf</u>
 Accessed May 8, 2013.

(24) Alberta Health and Wellness. Alberta's Influenza Immunization Policy. Family and Population Health Division/Surveillance and Assessment Branch/Immunization. Available at: <u>http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/Diseases/hi-dis-influenza-policy.pdf</u> Accessed May 8, 2013.

(25) Gustafson R, Skowronski DM. Disparities in varicella vaccine coverage in the absence of public funding. Vaccine 2005; 23: 3519-3525.

(26) Slifkin RT, Clark SJ, Strandhoy SE, Konrad TR. Public-sector immunization
 coverage in 11 states: The status of rural areas. The Journal of Rural Health 1997; 130:
 334-341.

(27) Guttmann A, Manuel D, Stukel TA, DesMeules M, Cernat G, Glazier RH. Immunization coverage among young children of urban immigrant mothers: Findings from a universal health care system. Ambulatory\_Pediatrics 2008; 8: 205-209.

(28) Strine TW, Barker LE, Mokdad AH, Luman ET, Sutter RW, Chu SY.Vaccination coverage of foreign-born children 19 to 35 months of age: Findings from the National Immunization Survey, 1999-2000. Pediatrics 2002; 110: e15.

Ritzwoller DP, Bridges CB, Shetterly S et al. Effectiveness of the 2003-2004
 influenza vaccine among children 6 months to 8 years of age, with 1 vs 2 Doses.
 Pediatrics 2005; 116: 153-159.

(30) Santibanez T, Santoli JM, Bridges CB, Euler GL. Influenza coverage of children aged 6 to 23 Months: The 2002-2003 and 2003-2004 Influenza Season. Pediatrics 2006; 118: 1167-1175.

(31) Alberta Health. Alberta Immunization Strategy 2007-2017. Available at: http://www.health.alberta.ca/health-info/imm-program.html Accessed May 8, 2013.

(32) Alberta Health. Alberta Immunization Policy – General Guidelines –Introduction.
 2012 Government of Alberta. Available at: <u>http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/AIP-General-Guidelines.pdf</u> Accessed May 8, 2013.

(33) Alberta Health Services. Influenza Vaccine Agreement and Ordering.2012-2013Influenza Vaccine Agreement for Community Providers. Available at:

http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/5662.asp Accessed May 8, 2013.

(34) World Health Organization. Influenza. Surveillance and Monitoring. Available at: <a href="http://www.who.int/influenza/surveillance\_monitoring/en/">http://www.who.int/influenza/surveillance\_monitoring/en/</a> Accessed May 8, 2013.

(35) The Epidemiology of influenza in children hospitalized in Canada, 2004-2005, in Immunization Monitoring Program Active (IMPACT) Centres. Can Commun Dis Rep 2006a; 32: 77-86.

(36) Government of Alberta. Seasonal Influenza in Alberta 2011/2012 Summary
 Report: August 2012. Available at: <u>http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/Influenza-</u>
 <u>Summary-Report-2012.pdf</u> Accessed May 8, 2013.

(37) Alberta Health and Wellness. 2011-2012 Health and Wellness Annual Report
 2011-2012 Available at: <u>http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/Annual-Report-12.pdf</u>
 Accessed May 8, 2013.

(38) Alberta Health. Annual reports, stats supplements, and business plans. Annual reports. Available at: <u>http://www.health.alberta.ca/newsroom/pub-annual-reports.html</u> Accessed May 8, 2013.

(39) Government of Alberta. Health Information Standards Committee for Alberta. Adverse Reaction To Immunization Data Set v1.2.February 9, 2010. Available at: <u>http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/HISCA-Adverse-Reaction-Data.pdf</u> Accessed May 8, 2013.

(40) World Health Organization. Vaccines against influenza WHO position paper-November 2012. Wkly Epidemiol Rec 2012; 87: 461-467.

(41) Harper S, Klimov A, Uyeki T, Fukuda K. Influenza. Clin Lab Med. 2002; 22:863-882.

(42) Neuzil KM, Mellen BG, Wright PF, Mitchel EF, Griffin MR. The effect of influenza on hospitalizations, outpatient visits, and courses of antibiotics in children. N Engl J Med 2000; 27: 225-231.

 (43) Ampofo K, Gesteland PH, Bender J, Mills M, Daly J, Samore M, et al.
 Epidemiology, complications, and cost of hospitalization in children with laboratoryconfirmed influenza infection. Pediatrics 2006; 118:2409-2417. (44) Sebastian R, Skowronski DM, Chong M, Dhaliwal J. Brownstein JS. Agerelated trends in the timeliness and prediction of medical visits, hospitalizations and
deaths due to pneumonia and influenza, British Columbia, 1998-2004. Vaccine 2008;
26: 1397-1403.

(45) Canadian Immunization Guide. 7<sup>th</sup> ed.Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada;
2006.

(46) Gerdil C. The annual production cycle for influenza vaccine. Vaccine 2003;21:1776-1779.

(47) National Advisory Committee on Immunization (NACI): Statement on Seasonal Trivalent Inactivated Influenza Vaccine (TIV) for 2010- 2011. Can Commun Dis Rep 2010; 36 (ACS-6): 1-49.

(48) Chen RT. Vaccine risks: real, perceived and unknown. Vaccine 1999; 17:S41-S46.

(49) Wilson K, Hawken S, Kwong JC, Deeks SL, Crowcroft NS, Manuel D. Vaccine and Immunization Surveillance in Ontario (VISION)-Using linked health administrative databases to monitor vaccine safety. Vaccine 2012; 30: 6115-6120.

(50) Wilson K, Barakat M, Mills E, Ritvo P, Boon H, Vohra S, Jadad AR, McGeer A.Addressing the emergence of pediatric vaccination concerns: Recommendations from aCanadian policy analysis. Canadian Journal of Public Health 2006; 97:139-141.

(51) Plotkin SA. Lessons learned concerning vaccine safety. Vaccine 2001; 20(Suppl 1):S16-19.

(52) Duclos P, Hockin J, Pless R, Lawlor B. Reporting vaccine-associated adverse events. Can Fam Physician 1997; 43:1551–1560.

(53) Fritzell B. Detection of adverse events: What are the current sensitivity limits during clinical development? Vaccine 2001; 20(Suppl 1):S47-S48.

(54) Canadian Adverse Events Following Immunization Surveillance System (CAEFISS). Available at: <u>http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/im/vs-sv/caefiss-eng.php</u> accessed May 8, 2013.

(55) Immunization safety surveillance. Guidelines for managers of immunization programmes on reporting and investigating adverse events following immunization (WPRO/EPI/99.01.). Manila: World Health Organization, Regional Office for the Western Pacific; 1999.

(56) Mansoor O, Shin S, Maher C, and the Immunization Focus of WPRO. Immunization safety surveillance: guidelines for managers of immunization programmes on reporting and investigating adverse events following immunization.Manilla: World Health Organization Regional Office for the Western Pacific; 1999. Available at: http://whqlibdoc.who.int/wpro/1994-99/WPRO\_EPI\_99.01.pdf Accessed May 8, 2013.

(57) Rosenberg M, Sparks R, McMahon A, Iskander J, Campbell JD, Edwards KM. Serious adverse events rarely reported after trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine (TIV) in children 6-23 months of age. Vaccine 2009; 27: 4278-83.

(58) McMahon AW, Iskander J, Haber P, Chang S, Woo EJ, Braun MM et al. Adverse events after inactivated influenza vaccination among children less than 2 years of age:

Analysis of reports from the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System, 1990-2003. Pediatrics 2005; 115:453-60.

(59) Adverse Events Following Immunization Reporting Form. Public Health Agency of Canada. Available at: <u>http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/im/aefi-essi-form-eng.php</u> Accessed May 8, 2013.

(60) Lambo J, Russell ML, Lorenzetti D. Scoping review of published literature on influenza vaccination coverage in Canada: preliminary results. (Poster Presentation) 10th Canadian Immunization Conference. Vancouver, B.C. December 3-5, 2012. Available at : <u>http://www.cicscolars.ca/CIC/PHAC\_FinalProgram\_ENG\_WEB.pdf</u>

Accessed July 9, 2013.

(61) Johansen H, Sambell C, Zhao W. Flu shots-National and provincial/territorial trends. Health Reports 2006; 17 (2): 43-48.

(62) Monto AS. Epidemiology of influenza. Vaccine 2008; 26S; D45-D48.

(63) Duclos P, Hatcher J. Epidemiology of influenza vaccination in Canada. CanadianJournal of Public Health 1993; 84 (5): 311-315.

(64) Fiore AE, Shay DK, Haber P, Iskander JK, Uyeki TM, Mootrey G et al. Advisory
Committee on Immunization (ACIP), Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).
Prevention and Control of Influenza. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on
Immunization Practices (ACIP) 2007. MMWR Recomm Rep 2007; 56 (RR-6): 1-54.

(65) Muller D, Szucs TD. Influenza vaccination coverage rates in 5 European countries: a population-based cross-sectional analysis of the seasons 02/03, 03/04 and 04/05. Infection 2007; 35(5): 308-319.

(66) Szucs TD, Muller D. Influenza vaccination coverage rates in five European countries-a population-based cross-sectional analysis of two consecutive influenza seasons. Vaccine 2005; 23 (43): 5055- 5063.

(67) Moran K, Maaten S, Guttmann A, Northrup D, Kwong JC. Influenza vaccination rates in Ontario children: Implications for universal childhood vaccination policy. Vaccine 2009; 27: 2350-2355.

(68) Neuzil KM, Jackson LA, Nelson J et al. Immunogenicity and reactogenicity of 1 versus 2 doses of trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine in vaccine-naive 5-8-yearold children. J Infect Dis. 2006; 194:1032-1039.

(69) Shuler CM, Iwamoto M, Bridges CB. Vaccine effectiveness against medicallyattended, laboratory confirmed influenza among children aged 6 to 59 months, 2003-2004. Pediatrics. 2007; 119:587-595.

(70) Plans-Rubio P.The vaccination coverage required to establish herd immunity against influenza viruses. Preventive Medicine 2012; 55:72-77.

(71) Nichol KL.The efficacy, effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of inactivated influenza virus vaccines. Vaccine 2003; 21:1769-1775.

(72) Rodewald L, Maes M, Stevenson J, Lyons B, Stokley S, Szilagyi Immunization performance measured in a changing immunization environment. Pediatrics 1999; 103: 889-897.

(73) Poehling KA, Fairbrother G, Zhu Y, et al; New Vaccine Surveillance Network.
 Practice and child characteristic associated with influenza vaccine uptake in young
 children. Pediatrics 2010; 126:665-667.

Burton A, Monash R, Lautenbach B, Garcic-Dobo M, Neill M, Karimov R, et al.WHO and UNICEF estimates of national infant immunization coverage: methods and processes. Bull WHO 2009; 87: 535-441.

(75) Vivier PM, Alario AJ, Simon P, Flanagan P, O'Haire C, Peter G. Immunization status of children enrolled in a hospital –based Medicaid managed care practice: the importance of the timing of vaccine administration. The Pediatric Infectious disease Journal 1999; 18: 783-788.

(76) Fairbrother G Freed GL, Thompson JW. Measuring immunization coverage. AmJ Prev Med 2000; 19 (3S):78-88.

(77) Stockley S, Maurice Smith PJ, Klevens M. Evaluation of Invalid doses. Am JPrev Med 2004; 26:34-40.

 (78) Verani JR, Irigoyen M, Chen S, Chimkin F. Influenza vaccine coverage and missed opportunities among innercity children aged 6 to 23 months: 2000-2005.
 Pediatrics 2007; 119:e580-e586.

(79) Campitelli MA, Inoue M, Calzavara AJ, et al. Low rates of influenza immunization in young children under Ontario's Universal Influenza Immunization Program. Pediatrics 2012; 129:e1421-e1430.

 (80) Hofstetter AM, Natarajan Martinez RA et al. Influenza vaccination coverage and timeliness among children requiring two doses, 2004-2009. Preventive Medicine 2013; 56:165-170.

(81) Walter EB, Neuzil KM, Zhu Y et al. Influenza vaccine immunogenicity in 6-23month-old children: Are identical antigens necessary for priming? Pediatrics 2006;
118:e570-e578. (82) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Influenza vaccination coverage among children aged 6-59 months –Eight immunization information system sentinel sites, United States, 2007-08 influenza season. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2008; 57 (RR-38):1043-1046.

(83) Zimmerman RK, Hoberman A, Nowalk MP, Lin CJ, Greenberg DP, Weinberg ST, et al. Feasibility of influenza immunization for innercity children aged 6 to 23 months. Am J Prev Med. 2004; 27:397-403.

(84) Kempe A, Daley MF, Barrow J, Allred N, Hester N, Beaty BL, et al.
Implementation of universal influenza immunization recommendations for healthy young children: Results of a randomized, controlled trial with registry based recall. Pediatrics.
2005; 115:146-154.

(85) Murray CJ, Shengelia B, Gupta N, Moussavi S, Tandon A, Thieren M. Validity of reported vaccination coverage in 45 countries. Lancet. 2003; 27: 362 (9389): 1022-1027.

(86) Loney PL, Chambers LW, Bennett KJ, Roberts JG, Stratford PW. Critical appraisal of the health research literature: Prevalence or incidence of a problem. Chronic Dis Can 1998;19:170-176.

(87) Shefer A, Markowitz L, Deeks S et al. Early experience with human
 papillomavirus vaccine introduction in the United States, Canada and Australia. Vaccine
 2008; 26:K68-K75.

(88) Virnig BA, McBean M. Administrative data for public health surveillance and planning. Annu. Rev. Public Health 2001; 22:213-230.

(89) Ross LL, Jebamani L, Forsyth S, Nicol JP.Canadian administrative data: Quality and assessment.99-7, 1-37.1999.Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada.Manitoba Centre for Health Policy and Evaluation.

(90) Wang L,Nie JX, Upshur REG.Determining use of preventive health care in Ontario.Comparison of rates of 3 maneuvers in administrative and survey data.Can Fam Physician 2009;55:178-9.e1-5.

(91) Kwong JC, Manuel DG. Using OHIP physician billing claims to ascertain individual influenza vaccination status. Vaccine 2007; 25:1270-1274.

(92) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Development of community- and state-based immunization registries. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2001; 50(RR-17):1-17.

(93) Zimmerman LA, Bartlett DL, Enger KS, Gosney K, Williams WG. Influenza vaccination coverage: Findings from immunization information systems. BMCPediatr. 2007; 7:28.

(94) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Immunization information system progress-United States, 2004. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2005; 54(RR-45):1156-1157.

(95) Hilderman T, Katz A, Derksen S, McGowan K, Chateau D, Kurbis C, Allison
 S, Reimer JN. Manitoba immunization study. Winnipeg, MB: Manitoba Centre for Health
 Policy, April2011. Available at: <u>http://mchp-</u>

appserv.cpe.umanitoba.ca/reference/MB\_Immunization\_Report\_WEB.pdf

Accessed July 9, 2013.

(96) Roberts JD, Poffenroth LA, Roos LL, Bebchuk JD, Carter AO. Monitoring
childhood immunizations: a Canadian approach. Am J Public Health. 1994; 84:1666–
1668.

(97) Brown C, Clayton-Boswell H, Chaves SS et al. Validity of parental report of influenza vaccination in young children seeking medical care. Vaccine 2011;29:9488-9492.

(98) Nowalk MP, Zimmerman RK, Lin CJ et al. Parental perspectives on influenza immunization of children aged 6 to 23 months. Am J Prev Med. 2005; 29:210-214.

(99) De Wals P, Boulianne N, Sevin E et al.Uptake of pneumococcal conjugatevaccine: Methodological issues in measurement and impact of publicly funded programs.Canadian Journal of Public Health 2009; 100:413-416.

(100) Jennissen T. Health issues in rural Canada. Ottawa: Parliamentary ResearchBranch; 1992 December. Report No.: BR325E.

(101) Canadian Institute for Health Information. How healthy are rural Canadians? An assessment of their health status and health determinants. 2006 September

(102) Government of Alberta. Comparison of Alberta population counts between the AHCIP registry and the 2006 census. Alberta Health and Wellness; 2009 December.

(103) Li Z, Doan Q, Dobson S. Determinants of influenza immunization uptake in Canadian youths.Vaccine 2010; 28:3462-3466.

(104) Foty RG, Guttmann A, Kwong JC, Maaten S, Manuel D, Stieb DM, Dell SD.Predictors of universal influenza vaccination uptake in grades 1 and 2 Toronto school children: Effective vaccination strategies should not end with at risk children. Vaccine 2010; 28:6518-6522.

(105) Jiménez-García R, Hernández-Barrera V, Carrasco-Garrido P, Popez de Andres A, Esteban y Pe<sup>n</sup>a MM, Gil de Miguel A. Coverage and predictors of influenza vaccination among adults living in a large metropolitan area in Spain: a comparison between the immigrant and indigenous populations. Vaccine 2008; 26:4218-4223.
(106) Jiménez-García R, Hernández-Barrera V, Carrasco-Garrido P, de Andrés AL,

Pérez N, de Miguel AG. Influenza vaccination coverages among children, adults, health care workers and immigrants in Spain: Related factors and trends, 2003-2006.J Infect 2008; 57:472-480.

(107) Quach S, Hamid J, Pereira JA, et al.Influenza vaccination coverage across ethnic groups in Canada.CMAJ 2012; 184:1673-1681.

(108) Kwong JC, Rosella LC, Johansen H.Trends in influenza vaccination in Canada,1996/1977 to 2005.Health Reports 2007; 18:1-11.

(109) Government of Alberta. Overview of administrative health datasets. Available
at: <u>http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/Research-Health-Datasets.pdf</u> Accessed May
8, 2013.

(110) Government of Alberta.AHCIP Medical Bulletin. Seasonal InfluenzaImmunization Program 2010. Available at:

http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/AHCIP-Bulletin-Med-158-2010.pdf Accessed May 8, 2013.

(111) Alberta Blue Cross. Available at: <u>https://www.ab.bluecross.ca/about.html</u>Accessed May 8, 2013.

(112) Alberta College of Pharmacists. Alberta Influenza Immunization Program Resource Guide for Alberta Pharmacists January 12, 2012. Available at:

https://pharmacists.ab.ca/nNewsEvents/default.aspx?id=7431 Accessed May 8, 2013.

(113) Government of Alberta. Immigrant Health in Alberta. April 2011. Available at: <a href="http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/Immigrant-Health-Alberta-2011.pdf">http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/Immigrant-Health-Alberta-2011.pdf</a> Accessed May 8, 2013.

(114) Government of Alberta. Application for Alberta Health Care Insurance Coverage.
 Available at: <u>http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/AHCIP-form-AHC0102.pdf</u>
 Accessed May 8, 2013.

(115) Calculating Demographic and Epidemiological Quantities in Alberta by Geo-Political Areas. Geographic Methodology Series No.1. Health Surveillance Branch, Alberta Health and Wellness, Edmonton, Alberta .December 2003.

(116) Government of Alberta. Rural Alberta-population change (2006 to 2011).Available at:

http://www1.agric.gov.ab.ca/\$Department/deptdocs.nsf/all/csi14002/\$FILE/Rural-

<u>Alberta-population-change-06-11.pdf</u> Accessed May 8, 2013.

(117) Government of Alberta. Report of Adverse Reaction to Immunizing Agents.

Available at: http://www.health.alberta.ca/documents/Immunize-Adverse-Reaction-

Form.pdf Accessed May 8, 2013.

(118) Public Health Agency of Canada. Reporting of adverse events following immunization. Available at:

http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/im/aefi-essi\_guide/index-eng.php#back

Accessed July 8, 2013.

(119) Government of Alberta Health and Wellness. Adverse Events to ImmunizationData Submission and Response Guidelines. December 2010 Final.

(120) Stata Corporation. Stata statistical software: Release 11. College Station, TX:StataCorp LP. 2009.

(121) Government of Alberta. Interactive Health Data Application (IHDA). Available at: <u>http://www.ahw.gov.ab.ca/IHDA\_Retrieval/</u> Accessed May 8, 2013

(122) Statistics Canada. Population by immigrant status and period of immigration,

2006 counts, for Canada, provinces and territories - 20% sample data. Available at:

http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/hlt/97-557/T403-

eng.cfm?Lang=E&T=403&GH=4&SC=1&S=99&O=A Accessed May 8, 2013.

(123) Citizenship and Immigration Canada. Canada Facts and Figures ImmigrationOverview Permanent and Temporary Residents 2011. Available at:

http://www.cic.gc.ca/english/pdf/research-stats/facts2011.pdf Accessed May 8, 2013.

(124) Health Information Act Guidelines and Practices Manual. Government of Alberta 2011.

(125) Jackson, L.A., Neuzil, K.M., Baggs, J., et al., 2006. Compliance with the recommendations for 2 doses of trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine in children less than 9 years of age receiving influenza vaccine for the first time: a Vaccine Safety Datalink study. Pediatrics 118, 2032–2037.

(126) Alberta Health Services. Influenza Immunization-Clinical Guidelines 2012 2013.Available at: <u>http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/Diseases/hi-dis-flu-clinical-</u>
 guidelines.pdf Accessed May 8, 2013.

(127) Government of Nova Scotia. Influenza Surveillance Report 2010-2011 Influenza Season. Available at: <u>http://www.gov.ns.ca/hpp/publications/Influenza-Surveillance-</u> <u>Report-2010-2011.pdf</u> Accessed May 8, 2013.

(128) Linn ST, Guralnik JM, Patel KV. Disparities in influenza vaccine coverage in the United States, 2008.J Am Geriatr Soc 2010; 58:1333-1340.

(129) Cohen AL, Christakis DA.Primary language of parent is associated with disparities in pediatric preventive care.J.Pediatr 2006; 148:254-258.

(130) Chen J, Wilkins R, Ng E. Health expectancy by immigrant status, 1986 and1991. Health Rep. 1996; 8:29–38.

(131) Fiscella K.Commentary-anatomy of racial disparity in influenza vaccination.Health Serv Res 2005; 40:539-549.

(132) Rosenthal S, Chen R. The Reporting sensitivities of two passive surveillance systems for vaccine adverse events. Am J Public Health 1995; 85:1706-1709.

(133) Mahajan D, Campbell-Lloyd S, Cook J, Menzies RI. NSW annual report describing adverse events following immunization, 2010. NSW Public Health Bulletin.
2011; 22:196-208.

(134) World Health Organization. WHO vaccine-preventable diseases monitoringsystem 2009 global summary. WHO/IVB/2009.Geneva,2009.Available at:

http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2009/WHO\_IVB\_2009\_eng.pdf Accessed May 8, 2013.

(135) Roberts JD, Roos LL, Poffenroth LA, Hassard TH, Bebchuk JD, Carter AO et al. Surveillance of vaccine-related adverse events in the first year of life: A Manitoba Cohort Study. J Clin Epidemiol 1996; 49 (1): 51-58.